

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Exploring Relationships between Psychological Capital and Perceived Stress among Newly Graduated Nurses

Rita June Jarvis-Isaac Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons, and the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Rita June Jarvis-Isaac

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Maria Ojeda, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Margaret Harvey, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Janice Long, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Exploring Relationships between Psychological Capital and Perceived Stress among Newly Graduated Nurses

by

Rita June Jarvis-Isaac

Rita June Jarvis-Isaac

MSc/ MHA, University of Phoenix, 2008

BS, University of London, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing Education

Walden University

May 2023

Abstract

Stress among the newly graduated nurses has been linked to physical and emotional distress, high turnover rates, and the quality of patient care. Psychological capital is a positive state of mind that consists of four components (hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism). Higher levels of psychological capital have been linked to improvements in the work environment, and the psychological and emotional state of nurses. Despite the extensive work of researchers exploring psychological capital among nurses, its relationship to stress among new graduate nurses has not been well studied. The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study was to explore the relationship between the components of psychological capital (efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of one year of practice. The job-demand resource model was used to frame this study. Perceived stress was measured using the Nursing Stress Scale and psychological capital was measured using the PsyCap scale. Spearman's rho and multiple linear regression were used to analyze the data. A total of 144 new graduate nurses participated in the study. There was a moderate negative association between efficacy, hope, resilience components of psychological capital and stress (p < .001), however, the only significant predictor of a reduction in stress was hope (p < .001). The study contributes to positive social change by providing organizations with an understanding of psychological capital and how it mitigates perceived stress among new graduate nurses; this information can be used to develop programs that ultimately result in reduced stress and turnover.

Exploring Relationships between Psychological Capital and Perceived Stress among

Newly Graduated Nurses

By

Rita June Jarvis-Isaac

MSc/ MHA, University of Phoenix, 2008

BS, University of London, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing Education

Walden University

May 2023

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this page to my late mother Monica Jarvis. I know you would have been so proud of me. Life was hard and difficult, but you were determined as a single parent to provide my foundational education and more so my spiritual development. Thank you for all your endeavors, it was not in vain.

I would also like to dedicate this accomplishment to my husband Joel Isaac. You were prepared to stand behind and let me shine. Thank you for the encouragement and support on this journey. We did it!

Acknowledgments

The journey toward the end has brought feelings of accomplishment. The process was long and I would have not been successful if the following persons were not present along the way. Firstly I thank my heavenly father, who inspired me through the word, I knew that all things are possible with God.

My husband Joel Isaac who motivated and supported me in every way to attain this level of education. Thank you, Joey, for allowing me the space and time to complete my assignments and the advice when I needed it. To my children (Jiselle, Joselle, Jonathan and Joshua) who understood and supported me during this journey, I say thanks.

A special friend who also encouraged and motivated me to start this degree and supported me during the process. Thank you so much Dr. Daphne Davis-Patrick.

My Pastor Emroy Sampson, who was thrilled when I started the journey and would always inquire about how things were.

My Chair Dr. Maria Ojeda who provided the most incredible support I could ever have. Your feedback has contributed immensely to my growth and development. Your assistance and guidance was invaluable, I will take those learning nuggets with me as I move forward. I am so grateful that you consented to be my chair, as you possessed the right knowledge to take me through successfully. Your love for research is inspiring. Thank you Dr. Ojeda.

Dr. Margaret Harvey, your support and encouragement has also made me feel that I can make it. Thanks for all your feedback, I felt your warmth and encouragement.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background2
Problem Statement
Purpose6
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Theoretical and Conceptual Framework7
Nature of the Study
Definitions9
Assumptions10
Scope and Delimitations11
Limitations12
Significance12
Summary13
Chapter 2: Literature Review14
Literature Search Strategy16
Theoretical Framework17
Psychological Capital19

Application of the Model	22
Rationale	24
Literature Review	25
PsyCap and Nursing Outcomes	25
PsyCap and Work-Related Stress in Nurses	33
PsyCap and New Graduate Nurses	35
Individual Components of PsyCap and Work-Related Stress in Nurses	39
Summary and Conclusions	47
Chapter 3: Research Methodology	49
Introduction	49
Research Design and Rationale	49
Methodology	50
Population	50
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	51
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	51
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	53
The Nurse Stress Scale	53
The Psychological Capital Scale (PCQ-24)	55
Researcher Developed Instruments	57
Operationalization	58
Data Analysis Plan	59
Threats to Validity	62

External Validity	
Internal Validity	63
Construct Validity	64
Statistical Validity	64
Ethical Procedures	64
Summary	65
Chapter 4: Results	67
Introduction	67
Data Collection	68
Demographic Characteristics	69
Results	73
Results for Research Question One	73
Results for Research Question Two	79
Summary	84
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	86
Introduction	86
Interpretation of findings	86
Limitations of study	89
Recommendations	89
Implications	90
Conclusion	92
References	94

Appendix A: Permission to Use the NSS	109
Appendix B: Psychological Capital Questionnaire Research Permission	115
Appendix C: Pre-screening Questionnaire	118
Appendix D: Demographic Survey	119

List of Tables

Table 1	Description of the Sample Before and After the Removal of Outliers
Table 2	Descriptive Statistics for the IV, PsyCap and components, and the DV, NSS (N
= 1	73)
Table 3	Results of Spearman's Rho Correlation Analysis between each Component of
Psy	<i>Cap</i>
Table 4	Components of PsyCap that were Non-Significant Predictors of the Total NSS
Sco	ores (N

List of Figures

Figure 1	<i>Histogram of the Dependent Variable, NSS Total Score</i> $(N = 133)$ 74
Figure 2	Q- Q plot of the NSS Total Score ($N = 133$)
Figure 3	Scatter plot of PsyCap Self-Efficacy and Total NSS score $(N = 133)$
Figure 4	Scatter plot for PsyCap Hope scores NSS Total scores ($N = 133$)
Figure 5	Scatter plot for PsyCap Resilience scores NSS Total scores ($N = 133$)
Figure 6	Scatter plot for PsyCap Optimism scores and NSS total scores $(N = 133) \dots 78$
Figure 7	Histogram of the Distribution of the Total NSS Scores before Square-root 81
Figure 8	Histogram of the Distribution of the Total NSS Scores after Square-root 81
Figure 9	Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals against the Standardized Predicted
Valu	<i>es of</i>

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Psychological capital (PsyCap) is a construct that consists of four malleable traits in individuals that contribute to an overall positive mindset: (a) hope, (b) efficacy, (c) resilience, and (d) optimism. In this study, I explored these components of PsyCap individually and collectively to determine whether a relationship exists between them and the level of perceived stress experienced by newly graduated nurses. I used the job demands–resources (JD–R) model as the theoretical framework to connect job demands, job resources, and personal resources to perceived stress experienced by newly graduated nurses.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to seek knowledge on whether a relationship exists between PsyCap and perceived stress among nurses with a maximum of 1 year in clinical practice. Newly graduated nurses contribute significantly to the supply of nurses; however, high levels of attrition from the profession are contributing to poor health outcomes, emotional and physical illness, and economic losses due to loss of human resources.

Although many researchers have identified strategies to develop and prevent the loss of new graduate nurses, the focus of this study was on personal factors that may contribute to the retention and reduction of work-related stress among new graduates with a maximum of 1 year. There is a gap in the literature related to the relationship between PsyCap and the level of perceived stress experienced by new graduate nurses within their first year. This study's findings have potential implications for the identification of personal resources that can be developed to enhance the ability of new graduate nurses to manage stress during this period when the desire to quit is greatest. If the negative effects of psychological distress on newly graduated nurses can be reduced, positive social change could result for patients and nurses. In this chapter, I discuss the background, problem statement, purpose of the study, the research hypothesis, the nature of the study, the assumptions, scope and delimitations, the limitations, and significance of the study.

Background

Previous researchers have indicated that new graduate nurses are at risk for leaving their first professional position. Cochran (2017) found that a reduction in stress levels at the 12 month marker for new nurses could be achieved through nurse residency programs; the breaking point for stress and intention to leave occurs among newly graduated registered nurses during their first 5 to 7 months in the profession. Kim et al. (2016) examined the influence of PsyCap and work engagement (WE) on the intention to remain among new graduate nurses. The authors provided evidence supporting the use of PsyCap as a personal resource that new graduate nurses use to transition to their environment, resulting in an adjustment to professional work, reduction of emotional exhaustion, and an increase in job satisfaction (Kim et al., 2016). Kim et al. found that PsyCap affected new graduate nurses' intent to leave. The sample used in Kim et al.'s study was similar to the sample that I used for this study, as the authors investigated nurses with between 3 months and 1 year of clinical practice. Evaluating stress among the newly graduated nurse may reduce early burnout and intention to leave. Zhang et al. (2019) found that the transition period from student nurse to new practicing nurse is stressful and unsatisfying and closely linked with intent to leave. Zhang et al.'s finding supports evaluating new nurses at the end of 1 year of clinical practice as this allows for more timely evaluation of stress and early interventions to prevent burnout. The authors recommended further research on the impact of other variables, such as personality traits, coping strategies, resilience, and professional identity on occupational stress (Zhang et al., 2019). Zhang et al. used a modified version of Yeh and Yu's (2009) occupational stress scale for newly graduated nurses. The scale addresses specific areas related to the transition process but is recommended for use within the first 3 months of practice.

Nurses who are optimistic may be better able to manage stress. Cruz et al. (2018) conducted a study among 227 nurses from the Philippines and found that nurses who possessed high levels of optimism and proactive coping were better able to cope with stress and had an enhanced quality of life. The concept of *proactive coping* means that nurses show good internal control, active coping, and self-efficacy.

PsyCap is an important factor for new graduate nurses to survive on entry to the profession. Dwyer et al. (2019) attempted to explore the simultaneous effect of intrapersonal, interpersonal, and organizational factors on new nurses with regard to burnout and intention to leave. The authors used PsyCap to address intrapersonal factors (Dwyer et al., 2019). Despite significant findings in relation to all three dimensions with regard to burnout and intent to leave, Dwyer et al. recommended focusing on

intrapersonal factors, specifically PsyCap, as they contribute to the effect on the new graduate nurse.

The JD–R model is used to provide a link between job demand, job resources, personal resources and burnout. Huang et al. (2016) conducted a quantitative study and used the JD–R model (Karasek & Thordell, 1992) to address whether personal resources can mediate the effect of burnout. Huang et al. found that employees who had more job resources (social support and performance feedback) display better personal resources (self-efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience) and, in turn, have lower levels of burnout. Huang et al.'s study provided clarity on the application of Karasek and Thordell's (1992) JD–R model, although the participants were not newly graduated nurses.

Problem Statement

Stress is present in every occupation, including nursing. The ability of new graduate nurses with a maximum of 1 year of clinical experience to manage stress affects the nurses' quality of life, the quality of healthcare delivered, and the turnover rate for new graduate nurses (Cochran, 2017; Wakefield, 2018). Alvarez et al. (2019) reported that 34% of new graduate nurses changed their profession due to stress and burnout. Other researchers have identified additional stressors affecting new graduate nurses: lack of task mastery, role clarity, lack of social acceptance, heavy workloads, high acuity patients, incivility, and moral distress (Bong, 2019; Frögéli et al., 2019; Haplin et al., 2017). A significant problem exists when stress impacts the psychosocial and biological well-being of a nurse and the quality of care patients receive. Benner's novice-to-expert model (1984) describes the features of new nurses as advanced beginners having less

than 1 year of experience; these nurses can be anxious and prone to errors and can have limited foresight. In a literature review, Cochran (2017) found that the peak level for stress among new graduate nurses occurs between the fifth and seventh month of practice, with decreasing levels around the 12th month, as nurses gain more confidence.

Newly graduated nurses entering the profession contribute the largest supply of nurses, and the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics estimates a nursing shortage of about 11 million nurses by 2024 (Haddad et al., 2020). As a result, the retention of newly graduated nurses entering the profession is a priority concern among healthcare organizations. The process of transitioning into a new position is filled with stress and uncertainty in any profession, and nurses are well-known for experiencing high levels of stress (Frögéli et al., 2019). Sources of stress can be either external or internal. Nonetheless, how the internal dispositions of individual new graduate nurses influence their ability to manage stress is not clearly understood.

The concept of PsyCap was developed by Luthans et al. (2007) and consists of four internal personal resources: (a) efficacy, (b) optimism, (c) hope, and (d) resilience. Luthans et al. (2007) defined PsyCap as a positive state of mind displayed during the growth and development of an individual. Boamah and Laschinger (2015) found that although access to workplace resources has a significant effect on WE, PsyCap accounts for additional differences beyond workplace empowerment alone. Thus, one can deduce that PsyCap can enhance workplace resources.

Each component of PsyCap may affect the effect of stress on an individual differently. Zhao et al. (2015), Yao et al. (2018), and Del Mar Molero et al. (2018) found

that efficacy moderates the effects of stress, whereas Cruz et al. (2018) found that attributes such as optimism and proactive coping have positive effects on nurses' quality of life. Hope has been negatively correlated with negative emotions like helplessness, anxiety, depression, and loneliness, yet resilience has been reported as essential in supporting mental health (Zhou et al., 2017). Despite the extensive work of researchers exploring PsyCap among nurses, its relationship to stress among new graduate nurses has not been well studied.

Purpose

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the components of PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of 1 year of practice. I determined the relationship of each independent variable, efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience, to the dependent variable of the perceived level of stress experienced by the new graduate nurses. To bring more clarity to the nature of the relationships, I also examined the composite effects of the components of PsyCap on perceived stress. I collected primary data from new graduate nurses with a maximum of 1 year in practice measuring and assessed their perceived stress. The results of this study can be beneficial to educators, nursing administrators and health care institutions to understand how PsyCap can be used to develop programs to improve the performance of the new graduate nurse and manage occupational stress, during that first year of transition.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the relationship between each component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

Null Hypothesis (H_01): There is no relationship between any component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_11): There is a relationship between at least one component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What is the composite effect of PsyCap on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

Null Hypothesis (H_02): PsyCap has no effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_12): PsyCap has a significant effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

Theoretical and Conceptual Framework

The job demand, job decision latitude, and mental strain model (Karasek, 1979) has been used as a framework for classifying nursing as a stressful job. Since then, the model has been renamed as the job demand-resources model (JD–R) and revised to include social and personal resources. The model posits that job stress increases when job

demand or workload is high, but the presence of social and personal resources helps to mitigate the effects of job stress. Job demands are the manual or mental efforts required for fulfilling aspects of the job, and job resources are organizational support, which reduces job demands and stimulates individual growth and development. Personal resources refer to attributes such as self-efficacy, resilience, hope, self-esteem, and optimism. The concepts of the latter portion of the model (personal resources) was used in this study to select the independent variables. The JD–R model links high demand jobs with burnout and stress if the job and personal resources are insufficient. Based on the model, I used scales to measure personal resources and the level of perceived stress. I designed the research questions to determine whether personal resources contribute to how nurses manage the stress associated with job demands.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a quantitative correlational research design, in which I intended to determine the level of stress experienced and describe the relationship between PsyCap and the level of perceived stress, experienced by new graduate nurses with a maximum of 1 year of clinical experience. I used the quantitative design to objectively determine the presence or absence of a relationship between the internal resources (PsyCap) and the level of perceived stress the new graduate nurse experiences. The independent variable was PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience) and the dependent variable was the perceived level of stress. I used the components of PsyCap to answer the research questions, the relationship between each individual component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience, and optimism). I first examined perceived stress based on correlation coefficients and then examined the effect of the composite of PsyCap on perceived stress using multiple regression analysis.

I gathered primary data from new graduate nurses with a maximum of 1 year of clinical experience using questionnaires. The Nursing Stress Scale (Gray-Toft & Anderson 1981) was designed to measure stress levels among hospital nursing staff. This instrument was developed to measure the effect of sources of stress experienced by nursing staff during their duties. I used the PsyCap Scale to measure the level of each component of PsyCap as well as a composite. All of the scales in this study were Likert scales, which maintained objectivity. I collected the data using an online survey platform.

Definitions

Newly graduated nurse: A period of transition from being a student to entering the work environment which exposes the nurses to high levels of work related stress (Read & Laschinger, 2015). Cochran, (2017) found that the most stressful periods existed between 5-7 months with decreasing levels and demonstration of greater confidence at the 12th month. This term also refers to a nurse who was successful in acquiring a Bachelor's degree, or an Associate's degree or a Diploma trained nurse who is now working with a recognized license to practice (also called a registered nurse or RN)

Perceived Stress: Perceived stress is defined as the degree to which events in a person's life are assessed as stressful, unpredictable and uncontrollable (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983; Phillips, 2012). Perceived stress is the independent variable and it was measured using the NSS (Gray-Toft & Anderson 1981). The total score was obtained

by adding all the scores for each item. A higher score indicates a higher frequency of stressful occurrences.

PsyCap: Luthans et al. (2007) defines PsyCap as a positive state of mind displayed during the growth and development of an individual. PsyCap consist of four components also referred to as HERO (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism). This dependent variable was measured by using the PsyCap Questionnaire Scale (Luthans et al., 2007).

Work-related stress: Boamah and Laschinger (2016) cited bullying, workload demands and shift work while Kim & Yoo (2018), identified lack of confidence, loss of self-esteem, low job satisfaction, overwhelming workloads, and having limited job skills as some of the sources of stress in the new graduate nurse transition.

Assumptions

I made three assumptions in this study. First, I assumed that participants would truthfully answer the questions. In this instrument a mixture of positive and negatively worded questions indicated whether participants were answering the questions without reading or randomly answering. To assess the data for random responses, I checked for outliers. On the other hand, anonymity and confidentiality can encourage participants to answer truthfully. Second, I assumed that the instrument I used in this study accurately measured the variables I intended it to. The instruments that I used were well established and had good internal consistency and have been used on a variety of participants globally. While these scales may have been revised, I chose the current versions to reduce the length of the survey and all the components still provide standard reliability and validity scores. My third assumption was that no participant was experiencing an extenuating stressful event that would influence the level of perceived stress the newly graduate nurse is experiencing while participating.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of this study was limited to exploring relationships between PsyCap and newly graduated nurses' level of stress during their first year of practice. While there are other factors that contributed to the degree of stress a newly graduated nurse may experience, I did not control such factors as the environment, the leadership, institutional policies and the new nurses' past work experience in a stressful job. My goal for this study was explorative and I hoped to establish whether relationships exist between PsyCap and its components and the level of perceived stress experienced by the new graduate nurse.

The scope of this study was also limited to new graduated nurses with a maximum of 1 year working in the clinical area. I did not include new graduated nurses with more than one year of experience as other studies showed that the during the 4 months to 1year period is associated with the greatest number of new graduate nurses leaving the profession or changing jobs. Finally, I measured perception of stress instead of a diagnostic level of stress such as cortisol salivary tests, as the goal of this study is explorative and correlation, as opposed to being a quasi-experimental study which beyond my scope.

Limitations

There were a number of limitations associated with this study. Obtaining the minimum sample size from a population of nurses with a maximum of 1 year of experience was a challenge. A small sample size can affect the statistical power of the analysis and the ability to generalize the findings. To ensure I obtained the required sample size to achieve statistical significance, I used the snowball sampling in addition to the Walden participant research pool and extended the period of data collection to ensure the sample size was achieved.

Another limitation as stated by Polit and Beck (2012), is that of the data collection instrument, which is a self-administered instrument, may be susceptible to self-selection bias. Although the sampling method included a prescreening to ensure only participants meet the selection criteria to participate, I was unable to control those who took the survey. This may have affected the results as true responses from the sample population may not be accurate. A third limitation would be the correlational nature of the study. As I used such a design, a cause-and-effect relationship cannot be established between PsyCap and the level of stress among new graduate nurses.

Significance

The shortage of nurses has been further compromised by increasing attrition rates among new graduate nurses. Many hospitals have implemented transition programs and enhanced environmental resources to assist new graduate nurses and prevent them from leaving. There are a vast number of studies examining the role of changes to external factors; however, this study provides information on the role internal factors play in influencing perceived stress among new graduate nurses. Significant findings will provide insights to educators and nurse managers on developing programs to improve the PsyCap among new nurses. Understanding the effect of PsyCap on the new graduate nurse can contribute to positive social change by generating positive emotions, better coping and problem-solving skills, and overall better quality of nursing care.

Summary

In this study, I explored PsyCap to determine whether relationships exist between perceived stress and PsyCap as a whole and components of PsyCap among newly graduated nurses. Stress is integral in nursing; however, new graduates have been experiencing work-related stress which is responsible for more than 33% leaving the profession, which contributes to the nurse shortage. I conducted a quantitative study using two established reliable instruments to explore relationships. A sample of 144 new nurses with experience equal to 1 year or less responded to an online survey. In this chapter I discussed the definitions, limitations, and scope of this study. In Chapter 2, I will discuss an extensive review of the literature as it relates to PsyCap, work-related stress, the new graduate nurse, and the theoretical framework.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Nurses account for the most significant number of workers in the healthcare profession, yet there is an ongoing nursing shortage. While new graduate nurses contribute the largest supply of nurses to relieve the nursing shortage (Haddad et al., 2020) the new graduate nurses' high attrition rate contributes further to the overall nursing shortage currently experienced worldwide. More than one quarter leave the profession within 1 year of practice, while more than half leave within 2 years of experience (Bong, 2019). With such negative effects forecasted, securing an adequate supply of nurses is of utmost importance.

The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics projected a shortfall of 11 million nurses by 2024 (Haddad et al., 2020), which causes a point of concern. The nursing shortage contributes to a decrease in the quality of care, specifically in areas such as increased frequency of medication administration errors, near misses, and sentinel events (Kim et al., 2016; Beietz, 2019). The shortage directly impacts the financial status of hospitals that have estimated turnover cost between \$37,700 and \$58 400 per nurse (NSI Nursing Solutions, Inc 2016). The new graduate nurses' high attrition rate contributes further to the overall nursing shortage currently experienced worldwide.

New graduate nurses have difficulty transitioning from student to registered nurse due to stressors in the workplace. Nursing is one of the most stressful professions worldwide, and they experience many events involving life and death situations. (Feddeh et al., 2020). Despite the stress, new nurses have been entering the profession; however, the rate of attrition is alarming. Ackerson and Stiles (2018) stated that the U.S. national average 1-year turnover rate among all newly licensed RNs is 17.1%, and the 2-year turnover rate is 33.5%. The stressful transition is associated with a reduced quality of life for the new nurse, poor patient outcomes, and a high turnover rate among new nurses (Cochran, 2017; Wakefield, 2018).

Historically, the new graduate nurse faced many challenges when entering the profession. High turnover rates are associated with the work environment, emotional exhaustion, and moral distress among new graduate nurses (Bong, 2019; Krautscheid et al., 2017; Sasso et al., 2018). The term *transition shock* (Duchscher, 2008) describes the process of understanding the difference between training and actual practice in the profession. In this shocking stage, the new nurse may experience emotional withdrawal, feelings of rejection, and hostility, as well as physiological symptoms such as fatigue and illness (Wakefield, 2018). Bakker et al. (2003a) confirmed this state using the JD–R model to link heavy workload or job demands to health impairments such as fatigue and physical exhaustion.

Personal, behavioral, social, and environmental factors cause stress in the new graduate nurse (Olvera Alvarez et al., 2018). Some well-noted sources of stress are inherent to the work environment, such as workload, social acceptance, high acuity patients, and moral distress (Frogeli et al., 2019; Haplin et al., 2017). However, the new graduate nurse's disposition can also account for the decision to stay or leave. An individual's modifiable features, such as optimism, hope, resilience, and efficacy, coined as PsyCap (Luthans et al., 2007), have shown positive associations with WE and better-coping strategies (Cruz et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2017). However, the relationship

between PsyCap and stress among new graduate nurses is not well understood. In light of the nursing shortage faced by the nursing profession, healthcare institutions, and the nation, it is imperative to retain as many new graduate nurses as possible.

It is essential to understand the factors that contribute to how new graduates cope with the challenging environment that they must practice. The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the components of PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of 1 year of practice. In this chapter I will present an overview of the literature search strategies that I used; the theoretical framework that I used for this study; and finally, an in-depth literature review in which I focus on new graduate nurses, stress, and PsyCap.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a comprehensive review of the literature using the following databases: Medline with Full Text, Academic Search Complete, PsychInfo, Education Source, Business Source Completer, and APA PsycArticles CINAHL Plus, and Google Scholar databases. The period searched ranged from 2015 to 2020. The types of evidence included in this literature review came from published studies, statistical data from government statistical publications, nursing foundation websites, and nursing council boards' websites. I used the search terms *new nurse or new graduate nurse or novice nurse or new registered nurse and PsyCap and perceived stress*. This search yielded no results. The key search terms *new nurse or new graduate nurse or new registered nurse and PsyCap* yielded 15 articles from peer-reviewed journals. The keywords *new nurse or new graduate nurse or novice nurse or new registered nurse and perceived stress* yielded 12 articles. Key search terms *were a new nurse or new graduate nurse or novice nurse or new registered nurse, Job Demand -Resource Model, personal disposition, and personal resources*; which yielded five peer-reviewed English language articles; however, only four possessed some similarity this study. Overall, there are 42 articles in this literature review.

Theoretical Framework

The JD–R model was developed by Demerouti et al. (2001) and revised by Schaufeli and Bakker (2004) and then again by Xanthopulou et al. (2007 & 2009). I used this model to frame my study. The JD–R model originated from the job demand, job decision, and mental strain model developed by Robert Karasek, in 1979. According to Karasek (1979), the job demand, job decision, and mental strain model was inspired by a study involving Whyte's restaurant workers who experienced severe strain symptoms related to heavy customer demands that they could not control. The model posits that mental strain relates to the interaction between job demands and job controls. Job demands refer to stress sources (stressors) such as workload demands present in the work environment. Job control refers to the range of decisions each worker has during the job demands, and mental strain is the difference between job demand and job controls. Therefore, the job demand, job decision, and mental strain model assumes that jobs with low job controls or the ability to influence decisions and heavy job demands such as workload are associated with high mental strain levels and job dissatisfaction.

From 2001 to 2004 many new concepts contributed to the development of JD-R model. Demerouti et al. (2001) expanded the job demand, job decision latitude, and mental strain model by Karasek (1979) to define burnout, describe the work environment, (job demand & job resources) and include human disposition (personal resources). Demerouti et al. (2001) defined burnout as a prolonged state in which work-related stress results in exhaustion which may be demonstrated as demotivation, and employees feeling less than confident and generative in their jobs. Demerouti et al. (2001) described the characteristics of the work environment to consist of two categories; the job demand (bad things such as heavy workload, role conflicts, and mental demands) and the job resources (good things are referred to a set mentors and team support). A formula that supports either positive or negative effects is described by job demands leading to burnout and resulting in unattained goals, versus job resources that encourages engagement and job satisfaction resulting in the attainment of goals. The stimulation of personal growth and development suggests the need for changes in personal disposition, which lead to the further expansion of the model. Later, Schaufeli and Bakker, (2004) added WE and work exhaustion to the psychological states.

WE is directly related to job demand, personal resources and the ability to manage stress. The individual who experiences WE is highly motivated and energized with a sense of worth and meaning to his organization (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). However, if the job demands are more than the job resources, individuals may enter a state of work exhaustion expressed as severe fatigue, depletion of energy, and health problems (Schaufeli, 2017). Demerouti et al. (2001) defined personal resources as the psychological characteristics of individuals that enable them to maneuver the stressors in their environment successfully. Lazarus and Folkman (1984), authors on stress, believed that stress occurred when individuals lack the resources to manage a problematic event. In 2007, Xanthopulou et al. conducted a study and found that personal resources mediated the relationship between job resources and WE.

The JD-R model can be used to develop the equation among the concept of job demand, job resources, personal resources and stress. Further studies by Xanthopulou et al. (2009) suggest that personal resources were reciprocal with job resources and WE over time. According to Demerouti and Bakker (2011), research supports the notion that personal dimensions and PsyCap (optimism, efficacy, hope, and resilience) may be the key to understanding the variation in perceived stress symptoms as well as the desire to quit one's job. The critical theoretical proposition in the JD-R model is that job demands (such as heavy workload, shiftwork, long hours, and problems communicating with others), job resources (mentorship, training, and development), and personal resources such as PsyCap influence job-related stress (Xanthopoulou et al., 2007). Personal resources. Personal resources influence how one may cope and interact with one work environment (Xanthopoulou et al., 2007).

Psychological Capital

PsyCap is a major human resource concept used to assess and enhance job and personality. The construct of PsyCap was first introduced by Luthans et al. (2006) and consists of four malleable traits: hope, optimism, efficacy, and resilience. Hope is finding alternative pathways to meeting goals; optimism is always having a positive view of the expected outcome; resilience is the ability to recover after adverse events; and efficacy is the confidence one has during the completion of a challenging task (Luthans et al., 2015).

Self-efficacy is a positive psychological construct supported by theory and research. Luthans et al. (2015) developed and defined self-efficacy with some influence on Bandura's theories (1997, 2005 & 2008). Self-efficacy refers to the individual's confidence in accessing physical and cognitive resources to complete a given task (Stajkovic & Luthans 1998b). Self-efficacy is defined by Bandura as the belief related to a specific context, and self-efficacy is the perception of the process or outcome based on one's abilities (Bandura, 1997).

Many factors can contribute to the development of efficacy in an individual. Bandura (1997) suggested that efficacy develops when an individual completes a challenging task. Efficacy increases their confidence and ability to succeed when they attempt the task again. An individual will increase self-efficacy by learning through observing or modelling when one sees a task accomplished by another individual. Selfefficacy can also be developed by encouragement and feedback from respected or relevant individuals such as leaders when the individual completes a task. For example, leaders influence self-efficacy by supporting the psychological and physiological aspects of the individual to prevent emotional exhaustion and depersonalization.

Luthans et al. (2015) used the theory of hope by Synder et al. (1996) to conceptualize hope as a personal resource in PsyCap. Hope is based on two components; the agency which is the willpower and the pathways to meet a goal. The agency

represents the individual who is determined to achieve a goal, by following a pathway. Pathways based on Synder's theory of hope is based on the individual's ability to find the required pathways to meet the goal. However, when pathways become blocked, the willpower motivates the individual to keep going by finding alternative pathways to achieving the goal.

An individual's mental perspective can affect the outcome of a situation. Scheier and Carver (1985) described optimistic individuals as those who anticipate good things would happen to them. Scheier and Carver (1985) used an expectancy perspective in which to achieve the desired good outcome, the optimistic individual will make the extra effort to ensure the best outcome is achieved. Initially, Scheier and Carver (1985) considered optimism to be only innate and trait-like, but later both theorists agreed that an individual can be converted to optimism through developmental interventions, therefore supporting optimism as having state-like features.

Resilience is vital for beginners who may be faced with stressful events along their pathway to success. Luthans et al. (2015) and Youssef et al. (2007) referred to resilience as an unexplainable method of coping with change despite multiple diverse and challenging events. Resilience is also known as the ability to bounce back after adversity. Resilience is demonstrated when the individual recovers quickly from adversity as opposed to the individual who is devastated and fails to recover and move on after a devastating event. Many studies have also supported the development of resilience over time (Babanataj et al., 2019; Forbes & Fikretoglu, 2018; Johnson et al., 2020; Magtiba et al., 2017).

Application of the Model

Four articles published between 2012 and 2020 used the JD–R model to study personal resources among nurses. Glover et al. (2018); Spence Laschinger et al. (2012); Wang et al. (2017). and Yang & Gui (2019), used the JD–R model to frame their studies in the area of personal resources among nurses. However, only Wang et al. (2017) used a sample exclusively of nurses with a maximum of one year of experience. Wang et al. conducted a study to explore the association of occupational stressors, perceived organizational support, and PsyCap and its components among Chinese female nurses using the JD–R model framework. The authors of this study provided empirical evidence to support the JD–R model concerning work enhanced engagement among female Chinese nurses. The findings supported the reciprocal effect discussed within the JD–R model among job resources, personal resources, and WE, and significant results revealed a positive association of PsyCap, hope, and optimism with vigor, dedication, and absorption among Chinese nurses.

Glover et al. (2018) also used PsyCap as a personal resource in the JD–R model. The purpose of the study was to determine whether personal resources directly influenced the perception of job demand, job resources, and outcomes. The findings supported the model where job demands and job resources mediate the relation of PsyCap with wellbeing and engagement. In other words, job resources predict personal resources and WE, and personal resources and WE predicts job resources. This study's relevance is the use of PsyCap as a global construct that represents the personal resources that was used in my research. Spence Laschinger et al. (2012) conducted a similar study using the JD–R model to determine the predictors of stress among new graduate nurses' workplace and wellbeing. The purpose was to use the JD–R model to understand how job demand, job resources, and personal resources (using PsyCap) influenced the new graduate nurse's experiences of burnout, WE, health, and job outcomes. The findings supported the hypothesized model, which states that job demand (workload, bullying) predicted burnout and health problems. Job resources (supportive practice, environment, and control) predicted WE and decreased turnover rates. Personal resources (PsyCap) influenced both burnout and WE. This study is most relevant to my research as it partly mirrors my study by using the JD–R model, new graduate nurses, and PsyCap as a predictor of stress. The JD–R model was also used to define and explain the relationships between the variables.

Yang and Gui (2019) conducted a quantitative study to determine factors influencing burnout in 167 nurses using the expanded JD–R model. The results indicated that burnout was positively correlated with job demand but negatively correlated with resilience and social support. Resilience represented the personal resource component of the JD–R model, as was also done in studies by Glover et al. (2018); Spence Laschinger et al. (2012). and Wang et al. (2017). The findings of the study confirmed the propositions of the expanded JD–R model.

Chaleoykitti and Thaiudom (2017) studied the PsyCap as a personality trait that could be developed. They used PsyCap to represent the concept of personal resources within the JD-R model. An experimental approach was used to understand the effect of a program aimed at developing PsyCap on retaining professional nurses at a hospital.
Forty nurses in Southeast Asia were randomly divided into two groups. The experimental group received a program to develop the five components of PsyCap (efficacy, hope, optimism, resilience, and hardiness) over a 2-day (16-hour) period, while the control group received no program. After two weeks, the authors sent a follow-up questionnaire to all participants. The results indicated that retention rates for those who received the PsyCap development training were significantly higher than those who did not. The study findings demonstrated that training aimed at developing PsyCap may improve an essential organizational outcome, specifically, nurse retention.

Rationale

The JD–R model is also well established and validated meta-analytically and longitudinally as an excellent framework to research occupational well-being in a wide range of organizations in the field. The model's scope is broad and not restricted to any specific industry or setting (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). The JD–R model's addition, including personal resources, is significant as my study focuses on other personal factors that may affect stress. Xanthopoulou et al. (2007) noted the complicated interaction between individuals and their environment and emphasized the cognitive processes and individual characteristics that may influence stressful events. Many studies have used some version of the JD–R model to explore nurses' stress, burnout, or WE. The JD–R model connects job demand, job resources, and personal resources to understanding the WE or work exhaustion an employee will experience. My study explored PsyCap as a personal resource within the framework of the JD–R. Thus, the study examined the effect of PsyCap on new nurses' perceived stress (job demand) within their first year of experience. Therefore, the JD–R model was used in my study to define the variables (PsyCap and perceived view of stress) and to explain the proposed relationship between PsyCap and its components and the perception of stress among new graduate nurses.

Literature Review

This section consists of a review of literature and theory related to the PsyCap and nursing outcomes, PsyCap and work-related stress among nurses, PsyCap and the new graduate nurse, and the individual components of PsyCap (efficacy, hope, resilience, and optimism) and work-related stress among nurses. I have identified a few themes that will shape the presentation and discussion of the evidence.

PsyCap and Nursing Outcomes

If PsyCap can be linked to increases in job satisfaction and WE, then the nursing outcomes such as burnout, intent to leave and psychological distress, can be reduced. Researchers have investigated the relationship of PsyCap to WE (Boamah & Laschinger 2015; Bonner 2016; Shahpouri et al., 2016 & Yim & Yoo, 2018), job satisfaction (Zhou et al., 2018), organizational commitment (Kim & Yoo 2018 & Yim et al., 2017), and intent to leave (Dwyer et al., 2019 & Yim et al., 2017). Nurses affected by job-related stress have also experienced burnout (Kim & Kweon, 2019) and mental health issues (Asheghi et al., 2020; Estiri et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2018) such as psychological distress (Brunetto et al., 2016) anxiety and depression (Baezzat et al., 2020). PsyCap should be an essential concept used in every human resource department to encourage WE.

Job-related stress has been linked to a reduction in the quality of patient care and an increase in institutional costs related to high turnover; among nurses (Boamah & Laschinger 2015; Brunetto et al., 2016; Maloney et al., 2017; Shahpouri et al., 2016; Yim & Yoo 2018). A few of those studies have included or focused on the new graduate nurse (Boamah & Laschinger 2015; Dwyer et al., 2019; Kim & Yoo, 2018; Yu & Lee 2018). Terms such as high energy, dedication and absorption in one's work have been linked to high WE. Schaufeli and Bakker (2004) stated that WE is developed when job resources such as supportive supervisors and opportunities to excel are present.

There is evidence to support a link between PsyCap and WE and the length of experience among nurses. Bonner (2016) conducted a study to evaluate the relationship between WE and PsyCap levels in 137 registered nurses (RNs) who worked at a teaching hospital in London. The participants' level of clinical experience ranged from less than two years to greater than 20 years. The aim of the study was to assess whether PsyCap levels were positively correlated with WE, and whether age, gender, job band level, length of experience practicing as a qualified nurse, and the highest level of academic study achieved affect PsyCap and WE in nurses. The findings indicated a positive correlation between WE and PsyCap scores. New graduate nurses with less than two years of nursing experience displayed significantly lower PsyCap scores than specialist nurses and advanced practice nurses with more years of work experience. The findings of this study are important because not only do they indicate that higher levels of WE are associated with higher levels of PsyCap, but that nurses such as new graduates with little experience tend to lack PsyCap compared to their more experienced colleagues.

In 2015, Boamah and Laschinger conducted a longitudinal study among new graduate nurses to determine whether work empowerment and PsyCap were indicators of

WE. Boamah and Laschinger defined work empowerment as access by employees to information, support, resources, and opportunities that make work meaningful. The study was done in 2012 at an acute care hospital in Ontario Canada. Two surveys were done one year apart among new graduate nurses. The findings indicated that both PsyCap and work empowerment contributed independently to WE. This study is important as it supports PsyCap as an antecedent to WE. This means that PsyCap is needed to some extent to foster WE among new graduate nurses.

Interventions to improve PsyCap in new graduate nurses could indirectly lead to reductions in turnover through improvements in WE. Kim and Yoo (2018) explored the influence of new graduate nurses' PsyCap and WE on their intent to remain in the profession. This cross-sectional design study took place at three University hospitals in South Korea. The sample consisted of 156 new graduate nurses with clinical experience from three months to one year. The findings revealed a significant correlation between PsyCap, WE and new graduate nurse' decision to remain. In a previous study by Shahpouri et al. (2016), explored the mediating role of WE in the relationship between job resources and personal resources among 208 female nurses from a hospital in Alzahra. The authors used the latest version of Bakker and Demerouti's JD–R model, which includes job demand, job resources and personal resources. The findings revealed similar results to Kim and Yoo (2018). Personal resources affected the intent to remain, directly and indirectly through WE, but only indirectly as a mediator through job resources. These studies are important as they demonstrate how developing personal resources, such as PsyCap, in new graduate nurses may contribute to improved retention. Dwyer et al. (2019), studied 136 newly licensed graduate nurses, who had more than six months of clinical experience but less than three years, the researchers found burnout present in 51% of the participants. The data collection took place on Facebook from January 2016 to February 2016. The study aimed to explore the impact of intrapersonal (PsyCap), interpersonal (authentic leadership), and organizational influences (structural empowerment) on new graduate nurses' burnout and turnover intention. The findings revealed a significant negative relationship between PsyCap, authentic leadership, structural empowerment, and burnout and turnover intent. Interpersonal, intrapersonal, and organizational influences were positively associated with burnout and turnover.

The above studies were all done in various countries with different political, cultural and social influences, but the findings were consistent in terms of PsyCap influencing WE and as work becomes more meaningful there is a less tendency for the nurses to leave. In four of the studies, the participants were new graduate nurses, however, the operational definitions varied. Bonner (2016) and Boamah and Laschinger (2015) both classified a new graduate nurse as having less than two years of clinical experience, whereas Kim and Yoo (2018) classified the new graduate as having three months to one year of experience, and Dwyer et al. (2019) defined them as having more than three months but less than three years. Dwyer et al. (2019) excluded nurses with previous work experience because of its potential influence on the results.

Boamah and Laschinger (2015) conducted a longitudinal study using two surveys which were done one year apart. Boamah and Laschinger (2015) study found that PsyCap and work empowerment independently affected WE but that both predictors combined produced a greater influence. Similarly, Kim and Yoo (2018) linked PsyCap to stress, burnout and intention to leave. The results of these studies suggest that PsyCap has a role in predicting the level of WE displayed by the new graduate nurse which affects their intention to leave. In all the studies the sample sizes were small which can affect generalization of the findings however, despite the varied locations (Canada, England, Iran and South Korea), and cultural influences in which these studies were conducted, the link between PsyCap and WE was consistent.

Based on the findings of these studies, PsyCap precedes WE, but having organizational or job resources such as mentoring and supportive environments may augment its effect on burnout and intent to leave. Therefore, in cases where little or no organizational support or job resources are present, new graduate nurses with low levels of PsyCap and low WE may be prone to experience burnout and the desire to quit. Therefore, in the absence of high levels of PsyCap, a supportive work environment can be useful in reducing burnout and intent to leave.

PsyCap can influence nursing outcomes, namely job satisfaction, organizational commitment, psychological distress, and intent to quit. Brunetto et al. (2016) explored the impact of individual and organizational resources by surveying 243 nurses across five hospitals in Australia. A quantitative study was done during 2013, to determine the impact of personal resources (PsyCap) and organizational resources (management support) on intention to quit. The findings indicated that both resources represented 45% of the support for job satisfaction, and 52% for organizational commitment. PsyCap and

psychological distress were negatively associated, while PsyCap and affective commitment accounted for 44% of the variance of nurses' intent to quit. Similar findings were obtained in a larger sample size of Chinese nurses. Zhou et al. (2018), investigated the mediating effects of organizational commitment and job burnout on the relationship between PsyCap and anxiety among 1354 female Chinese nurses form two tertiary care hospitals. Organizational commitment is a concept that has been frequently studied in relation to turnover and retention of nurses; it is defined as the employees' acceptance of the organizations' goals, their willingness to put effort into meeting those goals, with a strong desire to stay with the organization (Porter et al. 1974, in Yahaya & Ebrahim, 2015, p. 199). The authors found that increases in PsyCap led to increases in organizational commitment and increases in organizational commitment led to decreases in job burnout and anxiety. This study is important as it demonstrates a direct relationship between PsyCap and organizational commitment. Nurses with high levels of PsyCap experience less psychological distress and therefore high PsyCap may be linked to greater job satisfaction which can result in greater organizational commitment which ultimately reduces the intent to quit.

Personal resources (PsyCap) are considered innate and stable, but developable. Nurses who present with high PsyCap would have the confidence, willpower, and the ability to bounce back from uneventful situations and have a good outlook on life despite challenges. These traits support mental health and enable the nurse to mitigate stress and prevent the symptoms of emotional exhaustion and anxiety. While there are many studies presenting evidence of association between PsyCap and stress, no studies were found to measure the direct levels of perceived stress a new graduate nurse experiences in relation to the level of PsyCap, hence the reason for this study. The goal was to identify the nature of the relationship between PsyCap and stress which is known to influence outcomes such as burnout, intent to leave, mental and health conditions, and the risk for compromised nursing care.

As healthcare organizations battle with high turnover rates among nurses, understanding how PsyCap can influence the factors associated with turnover, can provide some insight on how to reduce the exodus. High turnover rates among nurses are due to stress, high patient acuity and increased workload (Roush et al., 2021). The new graduate nurse turnover rates have been as high as 35% with losses to organizations ranging from 5.2 – 8 million dollars per year I Canada (Boamah & Laschinger 2015). Roush et al. (2021), like Xanthopoulou et al. (2007) found significant associations between PsyCap, job resources, and WE which ultimately influence the new graduate nurses' intention to quit or stay. Yim and Yoo (2018) also found that PsyCap and WE influenced Korean new graduate nurses' intentions to stay in the profession. In Australia, Brunetto et al. (2016) conducted a quantitative cross-sectional study and found that PsyCap and organizational resources explained more than 50% of the variance in retention in the profession. PsyCap reduced the perception of psychological distress, and nurses became more engaged in their work; they were less occupied with the exhaustion and physical stress experienced during the work. The resultant effect was mentioned was increased job satisfaction and reduced intention to leave. Whether, the studies were done

in Canada, Australia or Korea, PsyCap reduced psychological distress and intent to leave, while improving WE.

As previously mentioned, Shahpouri et al, (2016), showed that personal resources affect the turnover intention directly, and indirectly through WE. A study done by Moloney et al. (2017) developed a turnover intention model by examining the effects of job demands, job resources, personal demands, and personal resources on burnout and WE and the intention to leave the organization profession. They did a cross-sectional design survey to gather data from 2,876 RNs working in New Zealand between 2014 and 2015. The key finding was that although higher workload and higher work-life interference were the strongest predictors of intention to leave, self-efficacy contributed significantly to reducing the nurses' intent to leave the profession. Recommendations were made to enhance job resources and personal resources, focusing on nurses' self-efficacy.

These studies clearly indicate the influence of PsyCap and WE on nurses' decision to quit. As nurses become more engaged in the work, the perception of stress is reduced and in turn the desire to leave is reduced. Efficacy (a component of PsyCap), which is the individual's perception of confidence and ability to execute a task, was identified as an important factor in making the decision to remain. In the new graduate nurse, low efficacy may be a source of stress that contributes to turnover rates. There is a need for further study on the role of efficacy and the other components of PsyCap in the new graduate nurses' perceptions of stress in new graduate nurses to fully understand the association.

PsyCap and Work-Related Stress in Nurses

Work-related stress occurs among all types of nurses and has been linked to burnout (Kim & Kweon, 2019), mental health issues, such as anxiety, depression (Baezzat et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018), psychological distress (Brunetto et al., 2016), and health issues (Asheghi et al., 2020; Estiri et al., 2016). Yim et al. (2017) studied the mediating role of PsyCap in the relationship between occupational stress and turnover intentions among 447 nurses from five hospitals in South Korea. Although the findings did show low levels of PsyCap among nurses with less than 15 years of experience, the results were not specific to new graduates. A statistically significant positive correlation between occupational stress and turnover intentions was found, and PsyCap was negatively associated with occupational stress and turnover intentions. This study supports the role of PsyCap as an essential factor in reducing occupational stress among nurses and reducing the desire or intent to leave.

Kim & Kweon, 2019 also investigated the mediating effect on PsyCap in the relationship between job stress and burnout among psychiatric nurses in South Korea. The 108 nursing participants came from three psychiatric hospitals. The data was collected between August 18th and September 15^{th,} 2018. The findings supported PsyCap as a partial mediator of stress and burnout among Psychiatric nurses. PsyCap was a significant contributor to reducing stress and burnout. This study supports the role of PsyCap in reducing stress and burnout which contribute to nurses' intentions to quit.

The level of work-related stress experienced by nurses has been linked to mental health conditions, psychological distress, and anxiety; creating a healthy working

atmosphere can reduce anxiety levels and health-related conditions. Estiri et al. (2016) explored the effect of PsyCap on mental health and the mediating role of job burnout among 384 nurses in an Iranian public hospital setting. There was a statistically significant relationship between the three variables. As PsyCap increased job burnout decreased, and as PsyCap increased mental health increased. This study adds to the evidence of the benefits of increasing PsyCap on the factors associated with nurse turnover such as burnout and mental health issues.

Zhou et al. (2018) studied PsyCap, organizational commitment, job burnout, and anxiety among Chinese nurses. The authors distributed questionnaires to 1354 female nurses from a hospital in China. The results of the study on the serial-multiple mediation of organizational commitment and job burnout in the relationship between PsyCap and anxiety were found to be statistically significant PsyCap was sequentially associated with increasing organizational commitment and then PsyCap was associated with decreasing job burnout and anxiety. Despite the setting in which these studies were done, the role of PsyCap has been consistent with reducing stress, decreasing anxiety, and burnout, and increasing organizational commitment, and job satisfaction, which in turn improves mental health and the overall atmosphere of the work environment.

Baezzat et al. (2018) conducted a study in Lorestan Province among 178 female nurses, to determine the mediating role of hospital stress and anxiety in the relationship between PsyCap and depression. The results showed that each component of PsyCap had a significant indirect negative effect on depression and anxiety. Hospital stress was found to be statistically significant, with a positive and indirect impact on depression. Therefore, the findings support that there is evidence to support the collective and individual construct of PsyCap in reducing work-related stress, anxiety, and depression among female nurses. As I look at the effect of each component of PsyCap on work-related stress, my goal is to determine whether there is evidence to support differential effects on stress among the components of PsyCap.

Asheghi et al. (2020) published a study on the role of PsyCap as a mediator between job stress, burnout and mental health among 250 nurses from hospitals and medical centers in Iran. Asheghi et al. (2020) conducted structural equation modeling and obtained a positive and significant relationship between job stress and burnout. The findings also reveal that PsyCap acts as a mediator to reduce job stress and burnout and to improve mental health.

A consistent trend is observed in the studies as it relates to PsyCap and job stress and mental health among nurses is that it lowers the nurses' perception of stress, thereby reducing mental and physical exhaustion which leads to burnout, intention to leave and mental illness. PsyCap independently and indirectly contributes to the wellbeing of the nurse and provides a buffer and protector from stress which affects burnout anxiety and mental health.

PsyCap and New Graduate Nurses

The transition period of a new graduate nurse consists of many stressors that affect all dimensions of an individual. Newly graduated nurses experience mental and emotional distress (Spence Laschinger et al., 2012) difficulty dealing with ethical dilemmas (Bong, 2019; Zhou et al., 2017) mental and physical illness (Boamah & Laschinger, 2016). These effects have contributed to many new graduate nurses leaving the profession (Yu & Lee, 2018) due to job dissatisfaction and mental strain (Kim & Yoo 2018), poor patient care (Boamah et al., 2018), emotional exhaustion, and burnout (Dwyer et al., 2019). While healthcare institutions try to support and retain the new graduate nurse by enhancing leadership and organizational resources, it is essential to determine the relevant evidence-based information to equip the new nurse to become engaged and remain in the profession. A few studies have provided evidence to support the value of PsyCap to new graduate nurses regarding nursing outcomes and work-related stress outcomes.

Kim & Yoo (2018) studied whether PsyCap would affect WE, which would then encourage the nurses to remain in South Korea. The participants were 156 new graduate nurses who answered a structured questionnaire on PsyCap, WE, and intention to remain. The authors found that PsyCap and WE influence the new graduate nurses' intentions to remain. Bonner (2016) also studied 157 RNs and found similar results as the sample consisted of nurses at all experience levels. A significant finding was that the more experienced nurses had higher levels of PsyCap than the younger nurses. This finding is significant as PsyCap can be developed among new graduate nurses to reduce the outcomes of stress.

Yu and Lee (2018) conducted a study in 2014 in Korea, which consisted of 371 new graduate nurses with less than 18 months of hospital work experience. Their turnover rate was 33.6% in 2012, and they cited high job stress, unsupportive work environments, job dissatisfaction, and burnout as reasons for leaving. Yu and Lee found that one of the components of PsyCap (resilience) contributed positively and directly to employees becoming engaged in their jobs, resulting in less desire to leave.

Also, in a study done in the United States by Dwyer et al. (2019), which involved 136 newly licensed graduate nurses who had between 6 months and three years of clinical experience, 51% of the nurses were highly stressed out. The researcher used Facebook to collect data for one month and excluded nurses from outside of the United States who had other jobs or were licensed practical nurses. The study aimed to determine whether personal or job resources such as authentic leadership and workplace empowerment reduced burnout and turnover intention among new nurses. The findings revealed that all three areas reduced burnout and turnover intent. The findings tell us that PsyCap impacts the intention to leave, job satisfaction, and the stress level experienced by the new graduate nurse.

Boamah et al. (2016) surveyed new graduate nurses with less than three years of experience twice a year apart. They found that emotional strain and lack of support from more experienced nurses were the main reasons for leaving the profession. The researchers found that PsyCap significantly prevented the new nurses from leaving and experiencing intensive mental strain. Despite the overall eagerness as they entered clinical practice, half of them experienced high levels of emotional exhaustion and incivility during their first year of practice. Boamah and Laschinger (2015) also study 205 new graduate nurses to test a hypothetical model linking the perceptions of workplace empowerment and PsyCap to the new graduate nurse WE. The results supported the model of work empowerment and PsyCap as strong predictors of WE independently and even greater WE when combined.

Although these studies (Boamah & Laschinger, 2015; Dwyer et al. (2019); Kim & Yoo (2018); Yu & Lee (2018) have been conducted mainly in Korea, Canada, and the United States, with different political and social climates, the findings suggest that in the absence of PsyCap, many new graduate nurses may become unhappy and leave the profession. Environmental and personal factors are required to assist the new graduate nurse during the transition process. The intent to remain is affected by the environment, job satisfaction, and PsyCap. Evidence provided by Boamah and Laschinger .(2016) cites PsyCap as a predictor of job satisfaction and intent to remain, while Boamah and Laschinger also found PsyCap to be a predictor of WE, which influence job satisfaction and perception of stress experienced by the new graduate nurse. So both studies obtained the same findings.

Other factors, such as organizational commitment and authentic leadership, have also contributed to meeting the needs of the new graduate nurse, and the evidence supports the development of personal resources to curb turnover rates. PsyCap influences WE, which impacts the perception of stress experienced by the new graduate nurse and reduces the intent to leave. In addition, at least one component of PsyCap has shown a positive correlation between WE and job satisfaction. This positive correlation finding is significant as each component of PsyCap can be used to address specific stressors. In the next section, I will review the evidence on the individual components of PsyCap and work-related stress among nurses.

Individual Components of PsyCap and Work-Related Stress in Nurses

Efficacy and Work-related Stress

Low efficacy levels in newly graduated nurses may contribute to increased stress levels as the new graduate nurses strive to develop mastery of cognitive and technical skills. New graduate nurses experience work-related stress as they lack experience and mastery during the transition (Frögéli et al., 2019). Efficacy refers to confidence in skills and the ability to use cognitive resources or take action to complete a task successfully (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998b). Efficacy can influence the competencies that persons develop and the interest they pursue. Some studies have shown the benefits derived from implementing mentoring programs, such as increased self-efficacy, reduction of high turnover rates, mental and physical health problems, and a high incidence of errors due to job-related stressors (Edwards et al., 2020; Lau et al., 2015; X. Wang et al., 2017). A few studies have shown a significant relationship between self-efficacy and work-related stress (Mahdizadeh et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2019, & Zaki, 2016).

An association between efficacy and stress can occur among nurses in different settings. Mahdizadeh et al. (2016) found a significant negative relationship between job stress and self-efficacy during a study that comprised 424 Iran nurses from 2015-2016. The results were similar to a study by Chen et al. (2020) as they surveyed 1029 young Chinese nurses and found that self-efficacy reduced stress and anxiety among young nurses. The findings tell us that increases in job stress reduce the nurse's ability to function competently in the workspace and vice versa. The lack of efficacy would contribute to work-related stress. Also, Zaki (2016) conducted a similar study to assess job stress and self-efficacy among 98 Psychiatric nurses working in two mental hospitals in Egypt. The data was collected from July 2015 to Sept 2015. Zaki (2016) found a statistically significant correlation between stress and the efficacy of psychiatric nurses. Notably, statistically significant correlations were present between nurse stress and age, efficacy, age, years of experience and nurses' stress. These studies' findings tell us that there is a link between efficacy and job stress among nurses despite the settings or country in which the studies occurred.

All of the studies discussed were conducted between 2015 and 2017 in different countries and have significant relationships between efficacy and job stress among nurses. There were significant reductions in depression and anxiety due to the presence of nurses with high efficacy. Efficacy was linked to age and years of experience among new Psychiatry nurses; however, due to the small sample of 98 nurses, this is a weakness to being generalized. However, Chen et al. (2020) studied a larger sample of young nurses, which provided significant findings related to the lack of self-efficacy being a source of stress in young nurses. Therefore, the significance of these studies is that they provide evidence to support the role of efficacy and stress among nurses.

Resilience and Work-related Stress

Resilience is needed by nurses who encounter many disappointments and challenges daily. The ability of nurses to withstand stress continually and function beyond was noted by Garcıa-Izquierdo et al. (2018) and Mroz (2015). Four studies will be discussed here regarding resilience and job stress among nurses. Ren et al. (2018) studied 1356 RNs from 11 general hospitals in China. The study aimed to determine the influencing factors of resilience. The data was collected from nurses with at least one year of experience from January to April 2015. Their findings revealed a significant relationship between resilience and job stress, self-efficacy, coping mechanisms, and educational levels. Babantaj et al. (2019) conducted a quasi-experiment on 30 critical care nurses in Iran's intensive care unit (ICU). The study aimed to determine the effect of resilience training on ICU nurses' occupational stress and resilience levels. The nurses who completed five 90 to 120-minute sessions on resilience training completed a pre and post-test. The data was collected between April 2015 and February 2016, and the findings showed a significant decrease in occupational stress with significant increases in the mean score of resilience.

The findings were similar to studies done at the Mayo Clinic in Minnesota by Magtibay et al. (2017) and Jafarizadeh et al. (2016) at a Tekab City, Iran hospital. Magtibay (2017) conducted research to assess blended learning efficacy in decreasing stress and burnout among nurses using a blended stress management and resilience training program. The participants were fifty nurses who participated in direct care with transplant patients and nurses in leadership positions. The training consisted of pre and post-testing for 12 modules at intervals presented face-to-face and online. The findings showed a significant reduction in stress and increased resilience levels.

Jafarizadeh et al. (2016) also provided interventional training, which consisted of five sessions on 1-hour, twice a week, in groups of 30 nurses at a time from a sample of 60. This study aimed to determine the effect of resilience training intervention on occupational stress among nurses. After analyzing questionnaires, pre-test, and post-test scores, Jafarizadeh et al. found significant differences in the level of occupational stress and its components between the pre-test and post-test among all the participants.

Three of the studies reviewed (Babantaj et al., 2019; Magtibay et al., 2017 & Jafarizadeh et al., 2016) conducted quasi-experimental studies to determine the impact of resilience on stress, and they all found that resilience training resulted in either a decrease in stress or a significant difference in the pre and post scores. Although these studies contained small sample sizes, which may reduce generalization, the combined population ranged from nurses who worked in critical care, transplant units, and leadership positions. These studies also provided evidence to support the malleable features of resilience as a component of PsyCap. The non-experimental study by Ren et al. (2018) consisted of a much larger sample size and comprised nurses from various hospitals with years of experience from one year. The findings are significant as resilience decreases job stress.

Hope and Work-Related Stress

Only a few current studies were found when searching for evidence linking hope and work-related stress among nurses; however, the concept of hope was explored among student nurse interns and workers from various areas. Some studies have classified hope as a protector against stress. In contrast, others have obtained significant results in improving job satisfaction and lower levels of perceived stress (Seek Lee & Jang, 2018) and well-being (Mousa et al., 2017)).

Seek Lee & Jang (2018) investigated the role of hope and job satisfaction between job stress and turnover intention in 362 workers from 27 workplaces in Korea. The findings showed that those with high levels of hope were associated with workers being more satisfied and less likely to leave their jobs. Similarly, Mousa et al. (2017) studied the effect of hope on 174 nursing interns in a clinical setting. The study investigated the relationship between perceived stress, emotional intelligence, and hope among nursing interns. Mousa et al. also found that hope was positively related to lower perceptions of stress and healthier thought processing. This study is significant as it again provides evidence to support the role of individual components of PsyCap having a positive influence on stress and intentions to leave.

This study's findings tell us that increased hope levels can positively influence healthy functioning and the level of perceived work stress experienced. Therefore, despite focusing not explicitly on the nursing population, the studies provided evidence to support hope associated with better coping and reduced perception of stress, reducing the intent to leave.

Optimism and Work-related Stress Outcomes

Work-related stress among nurses has affected work life, such as patient care, emotional and physical exhaustion, and the nurse's health. The research studies I encountered related to optimism and the outcomes of work-related stress among nurses provided significant associations between them. Some of the studies regarding optimism and work-related stress in nursing revealed a positive association between optimism and quality of life (Cruz et al., 2018), health (Malagón-Aguilera et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2016), and the quality of health care provided to patients (Jaworski et al., 2020). In some studies, optimism and burnout had a significant relationship (Chang & Chang, 2015; Malagón-Aguilera et al., 2020), while another study revealed that optimism is a modifiable trait through training and education (Jahromi et al., 2017).

Chang and Chang (2015) conducted a cross-sectional survey on 314 staff nurses in a General Hospital in Taiwan from June 2009 to September 2009. The study aimed to investigate three symptoms of burnout (emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and diminished personal accomplishment) and the buffering effect of optimism and proactive coping. The study findings revealed that higher levels of proactive coping and optimism were associated with lower burnout and noted optimism to have the most substantial relationship.

Aguilera et al. (2020) also proposed the question of dispositional optimism and burnout among nurses working in a long-term health facility in Spain. The study included 156 nurses who worked at 11 long-term health facilities from May 2014 to February 2015. The findings revealed lower levels of emotional exhaustion, the absence of burnout, and a better health perception among those with greater dispositional optimism levels.

It is important to note that another study by Kim et al. (2016) found an association between optimism and health. This study by Kim et al. (2016) aimed to evaluate the association between optimism and cause-specific mortality in women. The investigation began in 1979 with 121,700 female RNs between the ages of 30 and 55. The participants received questionnaires about their health and health behaviors every two years, which provided updated health information. The findings revealed significant associations between optimism and decreasing mortality risk in cancer, heart disease, stroke, respiratory disease, and infection.

Two studies supported optimism and quality of life (Motamed-Jahromi et al., 2017) and optimism, work-life satisfaction, and the effect on quality nursing care (Jaworski et al., 2020) among nurses. Motamed-Jahromi et al. (2017) conducted a quasi-experimental study that focused on the effect of positive thinking training provided through a social media application and its influence on the quality of life and work-life among nurses. The sample consisted of 100 nurses selected from two hospitals and randomly divided into two groups. The interventional group received positive thinking training material over three months via a social media application. The findings revealed significant differences between the mean scores for the pre and post-test for the interventional group for the quality of work-life (home-life; work design; work context, and work world). These study findings suggest that improving positive thinking can be enhanced through training and education.

In another study by Jaworski et al. (2020), their research aimed to determine whether optimism, job, and life satisfaction will influence rationing nursing care among Polish RNs. As previously mentioned, work-related stress outcomes affect the nurse's health, quality of life, and quality of care patients receive. The rationing of nursing care (Schubert, 2008) refers to withholding or failing to carry out nursing measures due to a lack of resources or time. Jaworski et al. (2020) stated that nursing care rationing was associated with low job satisfaction; elevated stress levels; increased risk of burnout; higher absenteeism; and a significant turnover of employees. In this study, they surveyed 1010 Polish nurses between January 2019 and June 2019 and found that nurses who were pessimistic possessed a higher risk of nursing care rationing than optimistic nurses. In a previous study by Motamed-Jahromi et al. (2017), Polish nurses who actively participated in positive thinking training displayed optimistic thinking and job satisfaction.

The overall notion from these studies suggested that optimism impacts the nurses' overall well-being. Since the degree of exhaustion and the nurses' perception of stress is reduced, the nurse will more likely experience job satisfaction. Stress affects well-being and health and ultimately affects the quality of patient care. Also noteworthy is that training and education can influence optimism, making it a malleable trait of PsyCap. Although each study contributed to evidence supporting optimism as an essential component of PsyCap, some key features were noted among them.

While most studies were descriptive and used self-administered surveys, one study used a quasi-experimental design. Motamed-Jahromi et al. (2017) conducted an interventional experiment; however, this study contained the smallest sample size, which can affect the generalization of the results. However, the study review by Kim et al. (2016) explored optimism and health among female nurses using a longitudinal design from 1979, but from 2004 to 2014, optimism studies began.

Although the authors admitted that confounding variables were a limitation, some adjustments were made to counteract the effect. Another limitation is the population sample that only consisted of white females. While females represent a significant part of the nursing population, a more accurate representation could have included males, as the other studies included males and females.

The overall finding for the individual components of PsyCap and job stress has led to the following conclusions: Optimism creates a sense of well-being, as nurses with high levels of optimism will always see positive outcomes despite the process. Hope helps reduce nurses' stress perception by equipping them with better coping skills as they seek new ways to solve problems. Resilience reduces job stress as they learn, and note the operative word learn, to bounce back after unfortunate events; therefore, building resilience will reduce job stress. Efficacy may be lacking in the new graduate nurse as age and length of experience in building confidence may be a factor in the new graduate. Thus, they may experience high-stress levels. A salient point to note is the malleable or developable nature of all the components of PsyCap; therefore, increasing levels in a specific component can be considered if other components show high values.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature review provided the foundational evidence to support the need for the current study. The JD–R model forms the framework for understanding how the variables in this study were defined and the proposed relationships between them. The variables of interest included PsyCap and work-related stress. The significant stress outcomes highlighted in the literature include the intention to remain, burnout, mental and psychological illness, and patient care outcomes. These outcomes affect the lives of nurses, their families, and their patients. The need to have an adequate supply of nurses within our healthcare system is essential to maintain and improve the quality and safety of care. Due to the growing nursing shortage, it is essential to retain new graduates. Numerous studies have supported the role of PsyCap (efficacy, hope, resilience & optimism) as a significant personal resource that helps nurses to mitigate the job-related stressors associated with nursing. Many studies also strongly support that PsyCap can be developed. There are differences in levels of PsyCap among new graduate nurses compared to their more experienced counterparts, which may contribute to the high turnover rate among new graduate nurses.

This study addresses the gap in the literature regarding the relationship of PsyCap to work-related stress among new graduate nurses. The study adds to the body of knowledge by examining the relationship of each component of PsyCap to stress and the overall effects of PsyCap on stress among new graduate nurses. The results of this study may contribute to the development of future outcomes studies and help administrators within healthcare systems to develop programs that improve retention among new graduates. In the next chapter, I will discuss my research methodology and the rationale for using this design in my study.

Chapter 3: Research Methodology

Introduction

The demand for newly qualified nurses must be supported as the aging nursing population departs and further contributes to the predicted nursing shortage globally. Nursing is a stressful occupation, and being a newly graduated nurse contributes to the sources of stress which have led the new graduate nurse to experience burnout (Kim & Kweon, 2019), mental and physical illness (Baezzat et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018) and ultimately, leave the profession (Dwyer et al., 2019; Yim et al., 2017). The purpose of this study was to explore relationships between personal resources (efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with one year or less of clinical experience.

This chapter describes the methodology, research design, and rationale for choosing the design. I describe the target population, sampling procedure, and the data collection process. In addition, I have included measures and instruments, analysis plans, threats to validity, and ethical considerations.

Research Design and Rationale

In this study, I used a quantitative research methodology, and the research design was non-experimental and correlational. The independent variable was PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience), and the dependent variable was the perceived level of stress. A non-experimental design allowed the participants to experience stress in their natural settings. Gray et al. (2017) stated that a correlational design is better suited when there is a need to address the gap in the literature and explore the topic with a focus on advancing knowledge in the area. While these studies have explored PsyCap and nurses and stress (Boamah & Laschinger, 2015; Bonner, 2016; Dwyer et al., 2019; Kim Yoo, 2018), the gap exists for new graduates with less than one year, therefore identifying relationships between the PsyCap and stress among newly graduated nurses with less than one year of experience would add to the literature and contribute to positive social change.

A correlational design can determine whether relationships exist between PsyCap and perceived levels of stress. Although other variables may influence perceived stress among new graduate nurses, I initially used this correlational design to determine the strength and direction of the relationship of PsyCap to stress.

To answer RQ 1, I used correlation analysis to determine the extent to which a relationship exists between PsyCap and its components and the level of perceived stress experienced by the participants. Regarding RQ 2, I used multiple regression analysis to determine the strength of the relationships between the independent and dependent variables. The data collection instrument consisted of surveys with closed-ended questions. Surveys are beneficial as they are used to accurately generalize a large population (Gray et al., 2017).

Methodology

Population

The population included all newly graduated nurses with less than or equal to 1year clinical experience working in a hospital setting. The underlying population is the population of English-speaking new graduate RNs worldwide.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

I used a nonprobability sampling strategy to access the target population. The sampling was not restricted to one location. Convenience sampling offers the fastest and most inexpensive method of acquiring participants; although convenience sampling increases the number of confounders, this can create avenues for further studies (Gray et al., 2017). The inclusion criteria included English-speaking RNs with one year or less of clinical experience in a hospital setting. RNs who were licensed practical nurse (LPN) was excluded from the study.

Faul et al. (2009) stated that a linear regression model requires an empirically valid sample size; therefore, I used the G* Power version 3.1.9.7. analysis to calculate the minimum number of participants that would be required. Based on the guidance of Cohen (1988), I used a priori power analysis under multiple linear regression, with a medium effect size of .15, an acceptable power level of .80, and a projected alpha level of .05, the minimum sample size needed to achieve validity was N= 85 participants.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

In the recruiting process, I posted recruitment notices on Facebook and Instagram. I also used the Walden participants' pool to advertise for participants. I also used snowball sampling to ensure that the minimum sample size was attained. Participants were encouraged to forward the study information to others who were interested in the study. I also used Amazon Mechanical Turk as a means of data collection to meet the sampling requirement. The recruitment notice contained links to the informed consent, a screening questionnaire, and the study surveys via the Survey Monkey platform. The data was downloaded from the platform once the data collection was completed, and the data collection period lasted approximately two months.

I used a demographic survey to collect data on participants' age, gender, marital status, educational level, work area, experience in nursing (months), hospital ownership type, and shift. I chose the demographic factors based on their presence in two similar studies, one by Feddeh and Darawad (2020) and the other by Zhou et al. (2018). The demographic survey was used to describe the sample and compare the sample composition in this study to that of prior studies.

When potential participants clicked on the survey link, the screening questionnaire opened. Those who passed the screening questionnaire by meeting the inclusion/exclusion criteria proceeded to the surveys, and those that did not were thanked for their time, and the survey closed. The informed consent opened, and potential participants were asked to agree to the consent by checking a box labeled "I agree." The consent statement contained information about their right to exit or discontinue the survey at any time without any consequences. The purpose of the research, the estimated time to complete the survey, and foreseeable risks and discomforts were addressed in the consent statement. I also mentioned that discomforts might include unpleasant memories of stressful events they have experienced and possible fatigue from the time taken to participate in the survey.

I distributed the survey using the Survey Monkey software (Momentive Inc., n.d.). I also sent the surveys to the population via a link and QR code placed on the flyer shared on social media. The software allowed only one response per participant;

however, participants could edit their responses before submitting the survey. To ensure anonymity, I disabled email tracking and Internet Protocol (IP) addresses on Survey Monkey. I made no attempts to contact participants after they completed the survey for follow-up questioning to maintain anonymity.

If someone did participate in this study, a summary of the results would be accessible via a secure link using Dropbox. Upon completion of the study, the summary will be uploaded for them to view at their convenience. The survey consisted of a demographic questionnaire and two established instruments that measured perceived stress and PsyCap.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

I used four instruments in this study; a screening questionnaire, a demographic survey, and two published instruments to measure the study variables PsyCap, and perceived stress. I designed the screening questionnaire to capture the inclusion criteria and determine eligibility for the study. I described my participants' characteristics using the demographic survey. I used the Nursing Stress Scale (NSS) developed by Gray-Toft and Anderson (1981) to measure perceived stress, and PsyCap was measured using the PsyCap Scale developed by Luthans et al. (2007).

The Nurse Stress Scale

The NSS was developed to measure stressful situations based on seven significant sources of stress in the physical, psychological, and social environment. Permission to use the NSS was granted and can be found in Appendix A. The sources of stress measured in the NSS were as follows; (a) death and dying, (b) conflict with physicians, (c) inadequate preparation, (d) lack of support, (e) conflict with other nurses, (f) workload, and (g) uncertainty concerning treatment. In developing the NSS, the authors administered it to 122 nurses across five hospital units. The following three studies were conducted over the past five years, and the NSS was the instrument used to measure stress. Guo et al. (2018) measured perceived stress among community nurses; Lawrency (2018) measured stress management among novice nurses; and Brand et al. (2021) measured stress levels among neonatal intensive unit nurses.

I used the NSS as it was deemed more appropriate compared to the other scales. I chose the NSS over the perceived stress scale (PSS) (Cohen et al., 1988) as the factors addressed were closely related to the sources of stress experienced by nurses. The PSS only provides a general outlook on stress which occurred within the last month. The NSS consists of 34 items, whereas the expanded nurse stress scale (French et al., 2000) contains 57 items which may prolong the time for participants to complete the survey.

I used published values to determine whether the NSS could measure what it was designed to measure. The factor analysis showed alignment between the seven significant sources of stress in the hospital environment and the conceptual factors of stress. Test-retest reliability for the full Scale was 0.81, and 4 measures of internal consistency of the NSS were obtained: Spearman-Brown coefficient of 0.79, a Guttman split-half coefficient of 0.79, a coefficient α of 0.89 and a standard item α of .089, Graft-Toft and Anderson (1981) stated that all proved to be reliable. Graft-Toft and Anderson (1981) achieved validity of the NSS when they conducted correlation studies with factors hypothesized to cause stress, such as trait anxiety, state anxiety, job satisfaction, and nursing turnover.

The findings supported significant correlations between the NSS and the sources of stress mentioned previously in this section.

The NSS is scored on a 4-point Likert-type scale with scores from 0 (never), 1 (occasionally), 2 (frequently), and 3 (very frequently); and consisting of 34 items representing workplace stressors related to the nursing environment. The NSS measures the frequency of stressful occurrences. The corresponding scores represent the level of perceived stress. There are seven areas (subscales) that focus on sources of stress (four factors focus on the psychological environment, one on the environment, and two on the social environment). These subscales identify specific sources of stress; therefore, the total scores for each subscale can be obtained by adding all the responses for each subscale. For this study, the stress variable was measured using the total score for the NSS, which is obtained by adding the seven subscale totals. A high total score would indicate a high frequency of stressful occurrences. The total score for all 34 item responses ranges from 0 to 102. Three sample items from the NSS are as follows; "Criticism by a physician,"; "Fear of making a mistake in treating a patient,"; "Not enough time to complete all nursing tasks." The participants responded by using the 4point Likert Scale with scores ranging from 0 (never), 1 (occasionally), 2 (frequently), through 3 (very frequently) to represent how often they found these situations to be stressful.

The Psychological Capital Scale (PCQ-24)

Luthans et al. (2007) developed the PCQ-24. The survey was appropriate for my study as it represents a measure for the dependent variable PsyCap. I obtained permission

to use the PCQ, and the permission document is included in Appendix B. The PCQ-24 measures an individual's level of positive psychological development. The PCQ-24 consists of items taken from four scales previously developed to measure hope (Snyder et al., 1996), efficacy (Parker, 1998), resilience (Wagnild & Young, 1993), and optimism (Scheier & Carver, 1985). PsyCap and its components (hope, optimism, resilience, and efficacy) were measured using the PCQ-24 instrument, which consists of a 24 items questionnaire using a 6-point Likert scale with responses from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) 2 (*Disagree*), 3 (*Somewhat disagree*) 4 (*Somewhat agree*) 5 (*Agree*) 6 (*Strongly Agree*).

Published values for reliability and validity proved that the instrument had acceptable standards in both areas. The Cronbach alphas for three of the subscales (hope, efficacy, and resilience) during the development of the PCQ were over.70, with optimism scoring .69. However, the internal consistency reliability for the overall survey ranged from 0.88 to 0.89, which is well above satisfactory standard (Luthans et al., 2007). Luthans et al. (2010) published internal validity values from newer studies with values greater than .70 in all four scales. The reliability alpha of the composite PsyCap construct was greater than .90. Even more recently reported internal consistency for PCQ and its subscales using Cronbach alpha was found to be .93 (Estiri et al., 2016), .93 (L. Wang et al., 2017) and .84 (Li et al., 2019).

I calculated the overall score by adding all the item responses in the PCQ. The range of scores for the subscales is from 6 through 36, while the scores for the overall Scale are 24 through 144. Question items 13, 20, and 23 are scored in the reversed order; so one is scored as six; two is scored as five; three is scored as four; four is scored as

three; five as two; and six as one. Each components of PsyCap have items assigned, so the subscale scores represented each component of PsyCap. The efficacy items are from 1 through 6; hope items from 7 through 12; resilience items from 13 through 18; and optimism items from 19 through 24. An example of an item from the Efficacy scale of PCQ-24 is as follows; "*I feel confident analyzing a long-term problem to find a solution*"; An example of an item from the Hope scale of PCQ-24 is as follows; "*There are lots of ways around any problem*"; An example of an item from the Resilience scale of PCQ-24 is as follows; "*I usually take stressful things at work in stride*."; An example of an item from the Optimism scale of PCQ-24 is as follows; "*I always look on the bright side of things regarding my job*."

Researcher Developed Instruments

Two instruments were developed; one was used to screen the participants before allowing them to begin the survey. The questions were based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The second instrument was developed to obtain a description of the participants or the demographic survey.

Screening Questionnaire

The screening questionnaire appeared before the consent page, consisting of three questions to determine the participant's suitability. If the participant met the criteria, they were allowed to proceed to the next page. The questions in this questionnaire are attached in Appendix C.

Demographic Survey

The demographic survey consisted of eight questions. The factors addressed in these questions were chosen based on two previous studies on nursing participants and stress (Rosnawati et al., 2021). The questions focused on age, gender, marital status, educational level, work area, experience in nursing (months), hospital ownership type, and shift; including these questions allowed for the comparison of characteristics of the sample to those of previously published research. The questions in this survey are attached in Appendix D.

Operationalization

Perceived Stress

In this study, I defined perceived stress as the degree to which events in a person's life are assessed as stressful, unpredictable, and uncontrollable (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983; Phillips, 2012). Perceived stress was measured using the NSS (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The total score was obtained by adding all the scores for each item. A higher score indicates a higher frequency of stressful occurrences.

Psychological Capital (PsyCap)

Luthans et al. (2007) described PsyCap as a composite construct of four state-like traits. According to Luthans et al. (2007, p.3), PsyCap is defined as "an individual's positive psychological state of development and is characterized by: (1) having confidence (self-efficacy) to take on and put in the necessary effort to succeed at challenging tasks; (2) making a positive attribution (optimism) about succeeding now and in the future; (3) persevering toward goals and, when necessary, redirecting paths to goals (hope) in order to succeed; and (4) when beset by problems and adversity, sustaining and bouncing back and even beyond (resilience) to attain success". The variable PsyCap was measured using the PsyCap Questionnaire (PCQ-24). The 24 items in this questionnaire measured the components of PsyCap (hope, optimism, efficacy, and resilience). Each component has six items; the responses were totaled and represented a subscale of the comprehensive questionnaire. Each subscale was added to provide the overall score for the PCQ. A more significant presence of PsyCap and its components was indicated among participants who obtained high scores on the overall scale, ranging from 24 to 144. Each component of PsyCap represented the subscale scores which indicated the extent of each component present in the participant. The scores ranged from 6 through 36, with higher scores indicating a greater extent or presence.

Data Analysis Plan

The study followed a quantitative approach; therefore, I used IBM SPSS v27 Statistics software to conduct the analysis.

Data Cleaning and Screening

I did anticipate missing data and managed it to prevent the reduction of my sample size, which can affect the statistical power. Therefore, increasing the target sample size beyond the computed power analysis provided a buffer for the missing data. Based on the type of missing data, Little et al. (2012) recommend sensitivity analyses to determine the significance of the results after using the imputation of the mean or median to replace missing data. Only one participant refused to state his marital status; all other questions were answered; therefore, imputed means were not conducted.
An outlier is a value in a sample data set that is extremely low or high in relation to the values in the data set (Gray et al., 2017). An outlier's presence can affect the distribution curve's shape and add bias to the results (Fields, 2015). To determine the presence of outliers, I used the Box plot in SPSS v27. The outliers were removed.

These steps were taken to ensure the data met the underlying assumptions of Pearson correlations, including the normality of the data distribution and the presence of a linear relationship between the variables. Based on the suggestions by Field (2015), I examined the histograms of the data, the z-values for skewness and kurtosis, and I observed the Q-Q plots to see whether the dots fell along the line to determine the normality of the DV. I also ran the Shapiro-Wilk test in SPSS and obtained a p-value above 0.05, indicating a non-normal distribution. Given a non-normal distribution of the variables, I used Spearman's *rho* to analyze the relationship between the variables rather than Pearson's *r*.

The underlying assumptions of multiple regression analysis are a normal distribution of the DV, a linear relationship between the IV and DV, the absence of multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity. To determine whether multicollinearity is present, I examined the variance inflation factor. Mertler and Vannatta (2017) state that multicollinearity is present when the VIF result is > 10. To determine normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity, which is the equal variance of both variables concerning the regression line (Gray et al., 2017), I observed scatterplots of the residuals for clustering at the top or bottom of the plot indicating non-normality at the right or left of the plot indicating a non-linear relationship, and for a cone-shaped distribution indicating

heteroscedasticity (Mertler & Vannatta, 2017). Based on the need to resolve nonnormality, multicollinearity, and heteroscedasticity, I used square-root data transformations as suggested by Field (2015) and Mertler and Vannatta (2017).

This study aimed to determine whether there is any relationship between PsyCap and its components and the level of perceived stress experienced by new graduate nurses. The independent variable is PsyCap, and the dependent variable is the perceived level of stress. The research questions are as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between each component of PsyCap (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between any component of PsyCap (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

 H_11 : There is a relationship between at least one component of PsyCap (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

RQ2: What is the composite effect of PsyCap on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_02 : PsyCap has no effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

 H_1 2: PsyCap has a significant effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

A Spearman's rho correlation analysis was used to answer the question of the relationship between each component of the independent variable (PsyCap) and the dependent variable (perceived stress levels of the new graduate nurse) since the distribution of both the IV and the DV was not normal. A normal distribution would allow using the Pearson correlation coefficient; a non-normal distribution would require using Spearman's rho. The r-squared or rho described the strength of the association between each component of PsyCap and the perceived stress score. A larger value closer to 1 suggests a stronger relationship between the IV and the DV than a smaller value closer to 0.

Then multiple regression analysis was used to answer the second research question regarding the composite effect of PsyCap on perceived stress. For interpretation of the multiple regression analysis, the F-statistic was used to determine the significance of the predictive model, and the unstandardized beta (*b*) coefficients of each predictor were generated to determine the amount of change in the DV (perceived stress) based on a unit of change in the independent variable (PsyCap), and R² was computed to describe the proportion of the variance in the DV that can be explained by the IV (Gray et al., 2017). The internal consistency reliability using Cronbach's alpha for each subscale and the overall survey was generated and compared with previous studies.

Threats to Validity

The types of validity threats will be discussed as they relate to this study and what was done to mitigate them.

External Validity

Studies that do not use random sampling or are experimental are at risk for diminished external validity (Gray et al., 2017). I used convenience sampling to access participants. To increase the external validity of the findings, I only recruited participants from English-speaking countries worldwide. The demographics showed a diverse sample, so the findings were generalized and not listed as a limitation.

Internal Validity

Internal validity assures that the relationship between the IV and DV is true and not influenced by methodological errors (Patino & Ferreira, 2018). In this study, there were several threats to internal validity. Sampling errors occur when the data are collected from individuals not belonging to the population of interest (Khanal, 2017). , hence, a screening questionnaire was used to confirm the eligibility of participants.

Another threat to internal validity would be using the wrong instrument to measure the concepts of interest (Khanal, 2017). I used two instruments with proven reliability and validity in published research studies to reduce the possibility of such an error. The internal consistency reliability of each instrument in this study was reported. The measurement of stress may be affected by other variables. Individuals may be exposed to other forms of stress, which can influence perceived stress. The time when the survey took place may or may not be one in which the nurse is experiencing a high level of stress.

Construct Validity

The PCQ-24 and the NSS instruments have satisfactory published values to address construct validity. Reported internal consistency for PCQ and its subscales were measured using Cronbach alpha and found to be .93 (Estiri et al., 2016), .84 (Li et al., 2019), and .93 (L.Wang et al., 2017). The Cronbach alpha for all subscales was greater than .70. The NSS, which measured the frequency of stress, had excellent reliability and validity scores using Cronbach alpha. Porcel- Graves et al. (2020) and Zhu et al. (2020) obtained values greater than .90 in two studies. Based on these reports, I did not foresee any problems with these instruments.

Statistical Validity

Statistical validity did not threaten the study's validity since I obtained the calculated sample size. I surpassed the minimum sample size of at least 85 participants (as calculated by the G*Power analysis) with adjustments in my proposed recruitment strategy.

Ethical Procedures

Ethical procedures were maintained and will be discussed in this section. Gray et al. (2017) state that the participant has the right to anonymity and the right that the data will be kept confidential. Recruitment was done via ads on social media platforms (Facebook and Instagram), Walden Participant Pool, and Amazon Mechanical Turk platform. The ads contained links to a Survey Monkey platform where the questionnaire was done. No emails were linked to survey responses via the Survey Monkey platform. The Survey Monkey platform uses SOC-accredited data storage centers with data encryption. Survey Monkey also has ISO 27001 certification and is HIPAA compliant (Momentive Inc, 2021). A pre-screening was done based on the inclusion criteria, and if the participant met the criteria, they proceeded to the consent page. If the participant did not meet the criteria, they were thanked, and the survey closed. If the criteria were meet, they proceeded to the consent page, and after providing their consent, the survey opened for their participation.

Electronic data files containing the responses were stored on my personal computer with username and password required for access and backed up on a secured and password-required cloud storage with access to my research Chair and myself. I will maintain data storage for five years as per Walden University's research policy.

Participants responded by checking the requested box to indicate consent. The consent included a brief introduction of myself as a doctoral student at Walden University, and I provided information about the purpose, benefits, risks, and approximate time it will take to participate in the study. I also informed participants that they could withdraw at any time. If they did participate in this study, a summary of the results would be provided via a secure link using DropboxTM for viewing at their convenience. My contact information was also provided if a participant needed to ask questions. A copy of the consent form can be found in Appendix E.

Summary

I used a quantitative non-experimental correlational research design to answer the research questions in this study. Recruitment was done using social media platforms; the Walden Participants' Research Pool and the Amazon Mechanical Turk platform. The data was collected over two months. I used the Survey Monkey platform to develop and administer the surveys. A convenience sample of 953 responses was collected. The NSS was used to measure perceived stress, while the PsyCap Scale was used to measure PsyCap among the participants. Two other instruments were used to screen the participants for the inclusion criteria, and the other was used to gather the demographic data on the participants.

The data was analyzed using the IBM SPSS v27; however, data cleansing focused on missing data, removing outliers, and ensuring that the data met the underlying assumptions of multiple regression analysis. I used Spearman's rho to answer RQ1, while multiple regression analysis was used to analyze RQ2. External validity was addressed by recruiting a diverse sample, while a screening questionnaire was developed to confirm eligibility and reduce internal validity. The other two instruments are published and validated with acceptable internal consistency and good reliability and validity scores. The statistical threat was reduced using the G*Power analysis to ensure I obtained the minimum sample size for statistical significance.

The ethical guidelines were used to apply for IRD approval following Walden University's policy to store the data in a data file on a computer or cloud storage with the required password and Id- login access for five years. Consent to participate required a physical check box to be checked after the participants read an overview of the study, the process to withdraw, and the consequences of the study. This chapter marks the end of the methods section; chapter four will provide the results and presentations of the data collected.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

I conducted this quantitative study to explore the relationship between the components of the independent variable PsyCap, (efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience) and the dependent variable, which was the perceived level of stress measured by the NSS among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of one year of practice. The research questions were:

RQ1: What is the relationship between each component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between any component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

 H_11 : There is a relationship between at least one component of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, resilience & optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

RQ2: What is the composite effect of PsyCap on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_02 : PsyCap has no effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

 H_1 2: PsyCap has a significant effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

In this chapter, I will discuss the data collection, recruitment process, and response rate. The descriptive statistics will also be discussed, followed by a brief overview of the sample demographics. I will discuss how the sample demographics represent the larger population, the process of cleaning the data and testing for assumptions before using the statistical tests to answer each research question.

Data Collection

I obtained approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) in April 2022. I commenced data collection in May 2022, and I completed data collection in August 2022. I used the Survey Monkey platform to develop the questionnaire and posted the survey on Facebook. I also used the Walden Participant Pool. After one month, I collected 84 responses, one short of my minimum required sample size. I then requested an amendment to my study from the IRB, which was approved on July 6th, 2022, to recruit participants via the following avenues: Allnurses.com website (a social networking site for nurses), emails were sent on two occasions to the Florida RN database (a public database of all the nurses licensed within the state of Florida), and Amazon Mechanical Turk (a research recruitment platform which pays eligible participants a minimal incentive for answering surveys). One week after posting the recruitment materials to the additional resources, I received no responses from Allnurses.com and the Florida RN database; however, I received 853 responses from the Mechanical Turk research participant site and 16 more responses for the questionnaire posted to Facebook. The total number of responses to the recruitment materials was 953; however, only 148 were found to be eligible for the study based on

the inclusion/exclusion criteria, exceeding the minimum sample size needed for the study, which was 85 participants.

Demographic Characteristics

Before analyzing the data to answer RQ1, I examined the data for missing data and outliers. Regarding missing data, only one participant refused to answer one of the demographic questions; no data was missing from the PsyCap and NSS questionnaires. I examined box plots to determine the presence of univariate outliers for each subscale of the PsyCap questionnaire and the overall score of the NSS. I removed 15 outliers from the dataset resulting in a final sample size of 133.

I explored the sample demographics before and after removing outliers using descriptive statistics, and they were similar. In the initial sample of 148 prior to the removal of outliers 25 to 34 age range represented slightly more than half of the population (51.4%, n = 76). There were more men (52.7%, n = 78) than women in the sample (n = 148), and most of the participants were married (68.9%, n = 102). During their clinical experience, those who worked in only one area represented a significant part of the population (86.5%, n = 128), while 13.5% of the participants worked between two and seven work areas. The med-surgical area was the most popular work area accounting for (55.4%, n = 82), while psychiatry contained the least work area (1.4%, n = 2). More than (87%, n = 130) of the participants earned a bachelor's degree, while only 1.4% possessed a diploma (n = 2). Most participants worked at government-owned hospitals (53.4%, n = 79). The mean period of clinical experience within the sample was 7.22 months (sd = 3.1). One participant refused to provide information on the shift or shifts

they worked; therefore, based on a sample of 147, the day shift was the most prevalent shift worked by the participants (52%, n = 77).

After removing 15 outliers, the remaining sample was 133; the demographic statistics were similar to those before removing the outliers. The age range remained slightly more than half of the population (53.4%, n = 71). As with the demographics prior, the male gender represented more than half of the sample (51.9% n = 69), and similarly, 68.4% (n = 91) were married. The clinical experience period 5 and 6 months were nearly equal at 15%, n = 20, and 15.8%, n = 21, respectively. The med-surgical area remained the most popular work area representing 56.4%, n = 75, and psychiatry remained the least represented (0.8%, n = 1). The bachelor's degree was the most prevalent among the respondents at 89.5%, n = 119, with nurses working in government-owned hospitals representing the largest proportion of the sample, 53.4 %, n = 71. Table 1 describes the distribution of the demographic characteristics before and after removing the outliers.

Table 1

	Before	After	
Demographics	(N = 148)	(N = 133)	
	%(<i>n</i>)	%(<i>n</i>)	
Age			
18-24	10.1(15)	9.8(13)	
25-34	51.4(76)	54.1(72)	
35-44	20.3(30)	16.5(22)	
45-54	13.5(20)	14.3(19)	
55+	4.7(7)	5.3(7)	
Gender			
Male	52.7(78)	51.9(69)	
Female	47.3(70)	48.1(64)	
Marital Status*			
Single	30.4(45)	30.8(41)	

Description of the Sample Before and After the Removal of Outliers

	Before	After	
Demographics	(N = 148)	(N = 133)	
	%(n)	%(n)	
Married	68.9(102)	68.4(91)	
Work Area**			
Med-Surg	55.4(82)	56.4(75)	
Pediatrics	18.2(27)	18.0(24)	
ED	14.2(21)	13.5(18)	
Outpatient	12.8(19)	13.5(18)	
ICU	10.1(15)	9.8(13)	
OR	8.1(12)	8.3(11)	
Labor and Delivery	2.0(3)	2.3(3)	
Psychiatry	1.4(2)	0.8(1)	
Number of Work Areas	~ /	()	
1	86.5(128)	87.2(116)	
2	8.8(13)	7.5(10)	
3	2.7(4)	3.0(4)	
4	1.4(2)	1.5(2)	
>5	0.7(1)	0.8(1)	
Degree Level			
Diploma	1.4(2)	1.5(2)	
Associates	10.8(16)	9.8(13)	
Bachelors	87.8	88.7(118)	
Hospital Ownership		~ /	
Government	53.4(79)	53.4(71)	
Private	46.6(69)	46.6(62)	
Shift(s) Worked***			
Day	52.0(77)	52.3(69)	
Night	12.8(19)	12.0(16)	
Both	34.5(51)	35.3(47)	
Experience (in months)		~ /	
<1-month	2.0(3)	2.3(3)	
1	0.7(1)		
2	4.7(7)	4.5(6)	
3	5.4(8)	5.3(7)	
4	3.4(5)	3.8(5)	
5	14.9(22)	14.3(19)	
6	14.9(22)	15.8(21)	
7	6.8(10)	6.8(9)	
8	13.5(20)	11.3(15)	
9	3.8(10)	7.5(10)	
10	7.4(11)	7.5(10)	
11	7.4(11)	8.3(11)	
12	12.2(18)	12.8(17)	

Note. *None of the participants indicated that they were separated or divorced. **Participants were allowed to choose multiple work areas. ***One participant refused to answer (Before n = 147; After n = 132).

Other studies examining PsyCap among new graduate nurses had demographic characteristics similar to this study. One study by Hussein et al. (2017) reported a median age of 23 years. Dwyer et al. (2019) reported a mean age of 28.3 years, and Cline et al. (2018) reported that 77% of participants in their study ranged between 20 to 30 years. In my study, data were collected on age as a categorical variable; 63.2% of participants ranged between 18 and 34 years, suggesting congruence with prior studies. The educational level of participants in this study was similar to that of prior research. The findings of this current study revealed that 89.5% of participants possessed bachelor's degrees, and prior studies reported that 87.5% (Dwyer et al., 2019) and 97.1% (Cline et al., 2018) of new graduates who participated in their studies possessed bachelor's degrees. However, the sample for the current study differed from prior studies regarding the proportion of men within the sample. Prior studies reported that between < 1% to 22% of their participants were male (Cline et al., 2018; Dwyer et al., 2019; Hussein et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2021) of their participants were male. However, the sample for this study was 51.9% male. Thus, the sample obtained for the current study was representative of the greater population of new graduate nurses with regard to age and educational attainment. However, there was an overrepresentation of men in the sample compared to the greater

population of new graduates, which continues to be overwhelmingly female (Campaign for Action, March 9th, 2022).

Results

Table 2 provides descriptive statistics for the variables of interest based on the final sample (n=133), and Table 3 provides descriptive statistics for the components of the independent variable.

Table 2

	Ν	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std.	
						Deviation	
PsyCap Total score	133	87	43	130	97.86	22.36	
PsyCap Efficacy score	133	15	21	36	28.97	3.23	
PsyCap Hope score	133	15	21	36	28.62	3.27	
PsyCap Resilience score	133	14	19	33	25.95	2.61	
Nurse Stress Total score	133	38	91	129	107.38	8.71	

Descriptive Statistics for the IV, PsyCap and components, and the DV, NSS (N = 133)

Results for Research Question One

RQ1: What is the relationship between each component of PsyCap and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between any component of Psychological Capital (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice. H_11 : There is a relationship between at least one component of Psychological Capital (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice. Prior to conducting the analysis for RQ1, I tested the underlying assumptions for Pearson correlations. To test the assumption of normality, I checked the values for skewness of the IVs and the DV. The values for skewness of the IVs were all between -.5 and .5, indicating symmetrical distributions (*Efficacy* = .267, hope = .314, resilience = .175, optimism = .144). However, the skewness of the NSS scores was -1.034, indicating asymmetrical data. Examination of the histogram (Figure 1) and Q-Q plots (Figure 2) for the NSS scores did not support a normal distribution; this was also confirmed by the Shapiro-Wilk Test (p < 0.001).

Figure 1

Histogram of the Dependent Variable, NSS Total Score (N = 133)



Q-Q plot of the NSS Total Score (N = 133)



Next, I tested the assumption of the linearity in the relationship between the IVs (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and the DV (stress). I could not identify linearity using scatterplots, as seen in Figures 3 through 6. As a result of this analysis, a Spearman's rho (non-parametric) correlation was calculated to answer RQ1.

Scatter plot of PsyCap Self-Efficacy and Total NSS score (N = 133)





Scatter plot for PsyCap Hope scores NSS Total scores (N = 133) Scatter Plot of NSS TOTAL SCORE by PSYCAP Hope score



Scatter plot for PsyCap Resilience scores NSS Total scores (N = 133)

Figure 6

Scatter plot for PsyCap Optimism scores and NSS total scores (N = 133)



Using Spearman's *rho*, I determined whether there was a significant relationship between the variables and the strength and direction of the relationship despite the presence of non-normal, non-linear data. All the relationships were negative; as one variable increased, the other decreased, as seen in Table 3. Efficacy, hope, and resilience were moderately associated with perceived stress (p < .001), but there was no statistically significant relationship between optimism and perceived stress among the new graduate nurses. Based on the results, I rejected the null hypothesis and concluded that there is enough evidence to suggest a moderate relationship between three of the components of PsyCap (efficacy, hope, resilience) and perceived stress among nurses with one year or less experience.

Table 3

Results of Spearman's Rho Correlation Analysis between each Component of PsyCap and NSS Total Scores (N = 133)

	Correlation Coefficient	Significance (2-tailed)
PsyCap Component	(rho)	p - value
Efficacy	255*	<.001
Hope	332*	<.001
Resilience	330*	<.001
Optimism	137	.115

*Significant correlation.

Results for Research Question Two

RQ2: What is the composite effect of psychological capital on perceived stress

among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice?

 H_02 : Psychological capital has no effect on perceived stress among new graduate

nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

 H_1 2: Psychological capital has a significant effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.

Before addressing RQ2, I tested the assumptions for multiple linear regression, including normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity. After checking the underlying assumptions to answer RQ1, I found that the DV, NSS, was not normally distributed. Therefore, a square-root transformation was applied to the NSS scores to better approximate a normal distribution using the formula indicated by Mertler and Vannatta (2017): Square-root (131 - NSS score). Figure 7 contains a comparison of the histograms of the NSS scores before and after the transformation. The mean transformed NSS total score based on 133 completed surveys was 5.44, the range was 8.38, and the standard deviation was 1.89.

Histogram of the Distribution of the Total NSS Scores before Square-root

Transformation (N=133)



Figure 8

Histogram of the Distribution of the Total NSS Scores after Square-root

Transformation (N=133)



After transformation of the NSS scores, a scatterplot of the standardized residuals against the standardized predicted values was produced see Figure 8. The plot did not exhibit clustering at the top or bottom nor on the left or right. The data distribution was not substantially curved, indicating that the underlying assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity were met (Mertler & Vannatta, 2017). The assumption of no multicollinearity between the independent variables was confirmed by all VIF scores being less than 10 (Table 3).

Figure 9

Scatterplot of the Standardized Residuals against the Standardized Predicted Values of the Transformed NSS Total Scores (N = 133)



I then conducted stepwise multiple linear regression analysis to answer RQ2. Stepwise multiple linear regression is superior to other methods (i.e., enter, forward, backward) because it evaluates the contribution of each independent variable in relation to the others, leaving only those that contribute substantially to the dependent variable within the model (Mertler & Vanatta, 2017). The results of the ANOVA were significant, indicating that the observed data was a good fit for the model containing all the components of PsyCap (F(1, 132) = 28.48, p < .001). The R^2 value of .179 indicated that 17.9% of the variation in the transformed NSS total scores could be explained by at least one of the components of PsyCap (IV). Further examination found that hope was the only component of PsyCap that was a significant predictor of the NSS total score ($\beta = .245, p < .001$). Square-root transformations result in a reversal of the sign of the coefficient; thus, the sign of the coefficients should be interpreted in reverse (Tabachnick et al., 2007). Therefore, the results of the analysis are interpreted as, for every 1-unit increase in PsyCap hope score, the NSS total score decreased by .245. Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis that PsyCap has no effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice. The other components of PsyCap were not significant predictors of the NSS total score and were excluded from the model, as shown in Table 4.

Table 4

Components of PsyCap that were Non-Significant Predictors of the Total NSS Scores (N

Model	Beta	t	р	Partial Correlation	VIF
PsyCap Efficacy	.127	1.107	.271	.097	2.103
PsyCap Resilience score	.155	1.618	.108	.141	1.485
PsyCap Optimism	-0.018	215	.830	019	1.126

Note. Dependent variable: Transformed NSS score; the sign of the beta coefficients should be reversed for the purposes of interpretation.

Summary

In this chapter, I presented the statistical analysis results from the survey data. I tested two hypotheses to provide answers to two research questions. Descriptive statistics provided insight into the population under study. After removing the outliers, I used 133 complete surveys in the data analysis.

Spearman's *rho* was used to answer RQ1, while stepwise multiple linear regression was used to answer RQ2. The results supported the rejection of the null hypothesis for both research questions. For RQ1, the results indicated a significant relationship between three components of PsyCap, namely, efficacy, hope, resilience, and perceived stress among new graduate nurses. As efficacy, hope, and resilience increased, perceived stress decreased. Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between any component of Psychological Capital (efficacy, resilience, hope, and optimism) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice. To answer RQ2, I conducted a stepwise multiple linear regression. The model containing the components was a good fit for the data, and one of the components of PsyCap, namely hope, and was a significant predictor of perceived stress. Increasing hope was associated with significant decreases in perceived stress. Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis and concluded that PsyCap had an effect on perceived stress among new graduate nurses with a maximum of one year of clinical practice.In Chapter 5, I will present an interpretation of the significant findings of this study, discuss its limitations, and make some recommendations for future studies on this topic and what these results mean for social change.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

In my study, I used a quantitative correlational research design to address a gap in knowledge regarding the relationship of PsyCap to stress among new graduate nurses. The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the components of PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of 1 year of practice.

I used a quantitative design to obtain objective measurements to determine the presence or absence of a relationship between the personal resources (PsyCap) and the level of perceived stress the new graduate nurse experiences. The significant findings of my study indicated that three out of four components of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, and resilience) had a negative association with perceived stress and that hope was the only significant predictor of perceived stress among new graduate nurses. In this chapter, I will provide the interpretation of the findings, the limitations of the study, and some recommendations and implications for positive social change.

Interpretation of findings

The study results showed a moderate relationship between three components of PsyCap (hope, efficacy, and resilience) and perceived stress among new graduate nurses with one year or less experience. The results also showed that PsyCap composite was a significant predictor of perceived stress but only one component of PsyCap, hope was a significant predictor of perceived stress among new graduate nurses with one year or less experience.

Several studies have confirmed the relationship between PsyCap and stress among nurses from varied settings and with varied years of experience. Yim et al. (2017) explored the role of PsyCap, occupational stress, and turnover intention among 447 nurses in South Korea with 15 years or fewer of experience and found a significant negative correlation. Kim and Kweon (2019) also found PsyCap to partially mediate stress and burnout among 108 nurses at a psychiatric hospital in South Korea. Asheghi et al. (2020) studied 250 nurses at hospitals in Iran and found that PsyCap acted as a mediator to reduce job stress and burnout and improve mental health.

While my study also indicates a relationship between PsyCap and stress among nurses, my study has expanded the body of knowledge by examining the relationship of each component of PsyCap to stress. Hope, efficacy, and resilience were all significantly associated with perceived stress. While other studies addressed only the composite effect of PsyCap, in my study, I was able to expand the knowledge on PsyCap and stress by identifying hope as the only significant predictor of stress.

The JD-R model developed by Xanthopulou et al. (2007/2009) shows that increases in personal resources reduce the job demand or perceived stress experienced by the employee. I found similar findings from my study results, as the correlation was significantly negative meaning that new graduate nurses with higher levels of hope, efficacy, and resilience experienced a lower level of perceived stress. Based on the regression analysis results, the more hope a new graduate nurse has, the lower the perception of stress will be. PsyCap, the construct developed by Luthans et al. (2007), comprises four components (efficacy, hope, optimism, and resilience). It is the personal resource used in the JD-R model to reduce the effects of job demands. These components of PsyCap are described as malleable, meaning they can be developed in individuals over time. The JD-R model with PsyCap as the personal resource formed the theoretical framework for measuring perceived stress among new graduate nurses. My study has provided further empirical data to support the conceptual model of PsyCap as a significant predictor of perceived stress among new graduate nurses. Therefore new graduate nurses with higher levels of PsyCap (resilience, efficacy, and hope) are more likely to have lower levels of perceived stress.

I developed the second research question to determine the composite effect of PsyCap on perceived stress among new graduate nurses. The results indicated that the predictive model for perceived stress containing all four components of the PsyCap construct as predictors was a good fit for the observed data. However, the only component that was a significant predictor of perceived stress was hope. I rejected the null hypothesis and concluded that there was a relationship between PsyCap and perceived stress. Increases in hope would decrease the level of perceived stress experienced by the new graduate nurse.

While there is little literature on the association of hope and perceived stress among new graduate nurses, studies such as Seek Lee & Jang, (2018) confirmed this finding among general workers in Iran. Moussaet et al. (2017) studied 174 nursing interns and confirmed this result; they found that hope was positively related to lower perceptions of stress and a better thought process. Several other studies supported the other components of PsyCap as valid (efficacy, optimism & resilience) predictors of perceived stress among nurses (Jaworkski et al., 2020; Magtibay et al., 2017; Mahdizabeh et al., 2016) although they were not significant contributors in the model in my study. My study confirms the findings of previous studies on the relationship between PsyCap and perceived stress among new graduate nurses (Boamah & Laschinger, 2015; Dwyer et al., 2019; Kim & Yoo, 2018; Yu & Lee, 2018). My study findings also expand the previous knowledge by revealing hope (a component of PsyCap) as the only significant predictor of stress among new graduate nurses. The ability to understand which components of PsyCap may be associated with new graduate nurses' ability to manage stress can be used to alleviate the effects of stressors.

Limitations of study

The limitations I anticipated in Chapter 1 were using a self-administered data collection instrument and the study's correlational nature. The second limitation related to the number of males seen in the demographics of the sample population. Reviewing statistical data and the sample demographics for other similar studies, the males only represent an average of 10% of the population (Campaign for Action, March 9, 2022). There was an overrepresentation of the male gender in my study (52.7%) compared to their numbers in the general population of nurses; this may have affected the results.

Recommendations

Future research should include a larger sample size that is more representative of the underlying population of new graduate nurses in the United States. Future research of an experimental or interventional nature would contribute to our understanding of the possible cause-and-effect relationship between PsyCap and perceived stress among new graduate nurses. Longitudinal studies are recommended to determine the development of PsyCap throughout the transition period of the new graduate nurse. Luthans et al. (2007) posited that the PsyCap construct is malleable, meaning it can be developed or taught. Further studies using a mixed methods design can also provide validity to the responses by determining the presence of bias and falsehood while gaining a better understanding of the effect of PsyCap on perceived stress among new graduate nurses. Intervention studies that aim to strengthen PsyCap among new graduate nurses would help confirm this notion and allow for follow-up on the long-term effects of such programs on perceived stress and other vital outcomes among new graduate nurses, such as turnover.

Implications

The findings of this study revealed that a significant moderate relationship existed between three components of PsyCap and perceived stress and that 17.9% of the variance in perceived stress was explained by at least one component of PsyCap. Based on the regression model, every 1-unit increase in hope resulted in a .245 decrease in perceived stress. There are a few implications for positive social change for the population of new graduate nurses.

The problem of stress has been deemed to be prevalent in this profession, as 34% of nurses leave the profession due to stress (Alvarez et al., 2019). As the new graduate nurse transitions from student nurse to registered nurse, they experience challenges and

diversities that prompt their intentions to leave. Ackerson and Stiles (2018) stated that the US national average 1-year turnover rate among all newly licensed RNs is 17.1%, and the 2-year turnover rate is 33.5%. Boamah et al. (2018) and Dwyer (2019) found that stress has affected the new graduate nurse's psychological, biological, and overall quality of life.

Each component of PsyCap offers malleable traits that can be used to mitigate the effects of stress. As new graduate nurses enter the nursing profession, their future expectations may be influenced by their present experiences. These stressors are seen as obstacles to achieving their goals, so many may drop out or leave. However, Synder et al. (1996) stated that hope is the willpower and the determination to find the pathway to attain one's goal, even when the pathway becomes blocked. Resilience, which is the ability to bounce back after failure, is essential for beginners (Luthans et al., 2007), while efficacy, which is strengthened by practice, experience, and mentoring (Bandura, 1977), is crucial to cultivate meeting one's goals, becoming proficient and having a sense of direction, and purpose.

The impact of the study can have positive social change implications for the new graduate nurse if educators can focus on developing resilience, efficacy, and hope among nursing students through changes in course design. Even during the first year as a registered nurse, the effect of intent to leave and the physical and mental effects on the new nurse can be reduced if administrators and educators continue to develop and evaluate these components of PsyCap.

Whether the PsyCap construct is used as a composite or individual component, there is sufficient evidence to indicate changes in the level of perceived stress experienced by new graduate nurses. The theoretical implications of my study findings suggest the need to investigate both the composite and individual components of PsyCap to provide more focus on the predictors of stress as it relates to the new graduate nurses.

The findings of this study support a recommendation for change in practice in terms of nursing education. Including a teaching curriculum that supports the development of PsyCap during nursing school that includes periodic scenario-based evaluations to determine changes in the level of PsyCap may assist new graduates in adjusting to the demands of clinical practice while managing stress.

Conclusion

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the components of PsyCap (efficacy, optimism, hope, resilience) and the perceived level of stress among newly graduated nurses with a maximum of 1 year of practice. In this study, I aimed to determine the relationship of each independent variable, efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience, to the dependent variable of the perceived level of stress experienced by the new graduate nurses. Another purpose of this study was to clarify the nature of the relationships and the composite effects of the components of PsyCap (Luthans et al., 2007) on perceived stress among new graduate nurses, specifically those with one year or less experience.

The study's findings revealed a moderate relationship between three components of PsyCap using Spearman's rho correlation and the composite effect of PsyCap was a

significant predictor of perceived stress among new graduate nurses with 1 year or less experience. While many studies were done to determine stress factors and methods of coping, only some have covered PsyCap and the new graduate nurse with one year or less experience. This study's findings will be beneficial by providing support for previous studies, bringing clarity to the role of PsyCap and the relationship to perceived stress, and extending the knowledge in the area of the new graduate nurse. The study findings are also significant in recommending strategies to improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the new graduate nurse.

References

Ackerson, K., & Stiles, K. A. (2018). Value of nurse residency programs in retaining new graduate nurses and their potential effect on the nursing shortage. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(6), 282–288.

https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20180517-09

- Babanataj, R., Mazdarani, S., Hesamzadeh, A., Gorji, M. H., & Cherati, J. Y. (2019).
 Resilience training: Effects on occupational stress and resilience of critical care nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 25(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12697
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: *The exercise of control*. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Beitz, J. M. (2019). The perioperative succession crisis: A cross-sectional study of clinical realities and strategies for academic nursing. *Nursing Economic*\$, 37(4), 179–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aorn.12805</u>

Benner, P. (1984). From novice to expert. Menlo Park, 84(1480), 10-1097.

Boamah, S., & Laschinger, H. (2015). Engaging new nurses: The role of psychological capital and workplace empowerment. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 20(4), 265–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987114527302</u>

Boamah, S. A., & Laschinger, H. (2016). The influence of areas of worklife fit and worklife interference on burnout and turnover intentions among new graduate nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(2), E164-E174.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12318

 Boamah, S.A., Laschinger, H.K.S., Wong, C. and Clarke, S. (2018) Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes.
 Journal of Nursing Outlook, 66, 180-

189.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004

- Bong, H. E. (2019). Understanding moral distress: how to decrease turnover rates of new graduate pediatric nurses. *Pediatric Nursing*, *45*(3), 109–114.
- Bonner, L. (2016). A survey of work engagement and psychological capital levels. *British Journal of Nursing*, 25(15), 865–871.
 https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2016.25.15.865

Brand, M. C., Shippey, H., Hagan, J., Hanneman, S. K., Levy, B., Range, S.,

Wongsuwan, N., Zodin, A., & Walden, M. (2021). Comparison of psychological and physiological stress in NICU nurses: Effects of unit design and shift. *Advances in neonatal care: official journal of the National Association of Neonatal Nurses*, *21*(4), E93–E100.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ANC.00000000000837

Brunetto, Y., Rodwell, J., Shacklock, K., Farr-Wharton, R., & Demir, D. (2016). The impact of individual and organizational resources on nurse outcomes and intent to quit. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 3093-3103.

Campaign for Action. (2022, March 9t). New RN graduates, by degree, by gender. https://campaignforaction.org/resource/new-rn-graduates-degree-type-gender/
- Chaleoykitti, S., & Thaiudom, A. (2017). The effect of positive psychological capital program on retention nurses. *Journal of Southeast Asian Medical Research*, 1(2), 58-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.55374/jseamed.v1i2.27</u>
- Chen, J., Li, J., Cao, B., Wang, F., Luo, L., & Xu, J. (2020). Mediating effects of selfefficacy, coping, burnout, and social support between job stress and mental health among young Chinese nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 76(1), 163–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14208</u>
- Cochran C. (2017). Effectiveness and best practice of nurse residency programs: A literature review. *Medsurg nursing: official journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses*, 26(1), 53–63.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587</u>
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 385-396.
- Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (1979). Quasi-experimentation: Design & analysis issues for field settings (pp. 19–21). Houghton Mifflin.
- Cline, D., La Frentz, K., Fellman, B., Summers, B., & Brassil, K. (2017). Longitudinal outcomes of an institutionally developed nurse residency program. *J Nurs Adm.*, 47(7-8), 384–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.000000000000500</u>
- Cruz, J. P., C Cabrera, D. N., Hufana, O. D., Alquwez, N., & Almazan, J. (2018). Optimism, proactive coping and quality of life among nurses: A cross-sectional

study. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 27(9-10), 2098-2108.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14363

- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The job demands resources model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 499–512.
- Dwyer, P. A., Hunter Revell, S. M., Sethares, K. A., & Ayotte, B. J. (2019). The influence of psychological capital, authentic leadership in preceptors, and structural empowerment on new graduate nurse burnout and turnover intent. *Applied Nursing Research*, *48*, 37–44.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2019.04.005

- Edwards, C., Hardin-Pierce, M., Anderson, D., & Rexford, T. (2020). Evaluation of selfefficacy and confidence levels among newly graduated nurses exposed to an endof-life simulation: A comparison study. *Journal of Hospice & Palliative Nursing*, 22(6), 504–511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.00000000000698</u>
- Estiri, M., Nargesian, A., Dastpish, F., & Sharifi, S. M. (2016). The impact of psychological capital on mental health among Iranian nurses: Considering the mediating role of job burnout. *SpringerPlus*, 5(1), 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3099-z</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>

- Field, A. (2018). Discovering Statistics Using IBS SPSS Statistics, (5th ed). Internet Bookwatch.
- Forbes, S., & Fikretoglu, D. (2018). Building resilience: The conceptual basis and research evidence for resilience training programs. *Review of General Psychology*, 22(4), 452–468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000152</u>
- French, S. E., Lenton, R., Walters, V., & Eyles, J. (2000). An empirical evaluation of an expanded nursing stress scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 8(2), 161–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/106137407782156381</u>
- Frögéli, E., Rudman, A., & Gustavsson, P. (2019). The relationship between task mastery, role clarity, social acceptance, and stress: An intensive longitudinal study with a sample of newly registered nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 91, 60–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.10.007</u>
- García-Izquierdo, M., Meseguer de Pedro, M., Ríos-Risquez, M. I., & Sánchez, M. I. S. (2018). Resilience as a moderator of psychological health in situations of chronic stress (burnout) in a sample of hospital nurses. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 50(2), 228-236.
- Ghasemzadeh, A., Maleki, S., & Hosini, M. K. (2017). The interactive role of job stress and perceived organizational support on psychological capital and job deviation behavior of hospital's nurses and staffs. *Journal of Research & Health*, 7(1), 572– 580. https://doi.org/10.18869/acadpub.jrh.7.1.572
- Gray, J., Grove, S., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's The practice of nursing research: appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence. (8th ed) Elsevier

- Gray-Toft, P., & Anderson, J. G. (1981). Nursing Stress Scale. *PsycTESTS*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t61847-000
- Grover, S. L., Teo, S. T. T., Pick, D., & Roche, M. (2017). Mindfulness as a personal resource to reduce work stress in the job demands-resources model. *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 33(4), 426–436. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2726
- Haddad, L. M., Annamaraju, P., & Toney-Butler, T. J. (2020). Nursing shortage. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Halpin, Y., Terry, L. M., & Curzio, J. (2017). A longitudinal, mixed methods investigation of newly qualified nurses' workplace stressors and stress experiences during transition. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *73*(11), 2577-2586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13344</u>Huang, J., Wang, Y., & You, X. (2016). The job demands-resources model and job burnout: The mediating role of personal resources. *Current psychology*, 35(4), 562–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-</u> 015-9321-2
- Hussein, R., Everett, B., Ramjan, L.M., Hu, W., & Salamonson, Y. (2017). New graduate nurses' experiences in a clinical specialty: a follow up study of newcomer perceptions of transitional support. *BMC Nurs* 16, 42.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-017-0236-0

Jafarizadeh, H., Zhiyani, E., Aghakhani, N., Alinejad, V., & Moradi, Y. (2017). Effect of resilience-based intervention on occupational stress among nurses. *World Family*

Medicine Journal: Incorporating the Middle East Journal of Family Medicine, 99(5548), 1-5.

- Karasek, R. A. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24, 285–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2392498</u>
- Karasek, R. A. & Theorell, T. (1992). Healthy work: Stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Kim, S., & Kweon, Y. (2020). Psychological capital mediates the association between job stress and burnout of among Korean psychiatric nurses. *Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8(3), 199. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare8030199
- Kim, M. Y., Kim, Y. M., & Kang, S. W. (2016). A survey and multilevel analysis of nursing unit tenure diversity and medication errors. *Journal of nursing management*, 24(5), 634–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12366</u>Kim, K. J., & Yoo, M. S. (2018). The influence of psychological capital and work engagement on Intention to Remain of New Graduate Nurses. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 48(9), 459–465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.00000000000649</u>
- Laschinger, H. K. S., & Nosko, A. (2015). Exposure to workplace bullying and posttraumatic stress disorder symptomology: The role of protective psychological resources. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23(2), 252–262.

https://doi.org./10.1111/jonm.12122

Lawrency, P. (2018) Stress management and the novice nurse. *Nursing Theses and Capstone Projects*. 311.https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/nursing etd/311

Leng, M., Xiu, H., Yu, P., Feng, J., Wei, Y., Cui, Y., Zhang, M., Zhou, Y., & Wei, H.
 (2020). Current state and influencing factors of nurse resilience and perceived job-related stressors. *Journal of continuing education in nursing*, 51(3), 132–137.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20200216-08</u>

- Li, Y., Wu, Q., Li, Y., Chen, L., & Wang, X. (2019). Relationships among psychological capital, creative tendency, and job burnout among Chinese nurses. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 75(12), 3495-3503.
- Little, R. J., D'Agostino, R., Cohen, M. L., Dickersin, K., Emerson, S. S., Farrar, J. T., Frangakis, C., Hogan, J. W., Molenberghs, G., Murphy, S. A., Neaton, J. D., Rotnitzky, A., Scharfstein, D., Shih, W. J., Siegel, J. P., & Stern, H. (2012). The prevention and treatment of missing data in clinical trials. *The New England journal of medicine*, *367*(14), 1355–1360.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsr1203730

- Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., Avolio, B. J., Norman, S. M., & Combs, G. M. (2006).
 Psychological capital development: toward a micro-intervention. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(3), 387–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.373</u>
- Luthans, F. L., Avolio, B. J., & Avey, J. A. (2007). Psychological capital questionnaire. *PsycTESTS*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t06483-000</u>

Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., Avolio, B. J., & Peterson, S. J. (2010). The development and

resulting performance impact of positive psychological capital. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 21(1), 41-67.

- Luthans, Fred, et al., (2015). *Psychological Capital and Beyond*, Oxford University Press.
- Magtibay, D. L., Chesak, S. S., Coughlin, K. & Sood, A. (2017). Decreasing Stress and burnout in nurses. *JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 47(7/8), 391– 395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.000000000000501</u>
- Mahdizadeh, J., Daihimfar, F., & Kahouei, M. (2016). The relationship of job stress with self-efficacy among nurses working in hospitals of Semnan University of Medical Sciences, Iran. *Bioscience Biotechnology Research Communications*, 9(3), 435-438.
- Mertler, C. A., & Vannatta, R. A. (2016). *Advanced and multivariate statistical methods: Practical application and interpretation*. Taylor & Francis.
- Moloney, W., Boxall, P., Parsons, M., & Cheung, G. (2018). Factors predicting Registered Nurses' intentions to leave their organization and profession: A job demands-resources framework. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 74(4), 864–875. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13497

Mousa, A. A. N., Menssey, R. F. M., & Kamel, N. M. F. (2017). Relationship between perceived stress, emotional intelligence and hope among intern nursing students. *IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 6(3), 75-83.

Mroz, J. (2015). Predictive roles of coping and resilience for the perceived stress in nurses. *Progress in Health Sciences*, *2*, 77.

Olvera Alvarez, H. A., Provencio-Vasquez, E., Slavich, G. M., Laurent, J. G. C.,
Browning, M., McKee-Lopez, G., Robbins, L., & Spengler, J. D. (2019). Stress and health in nursing students: The nurse engagement and wellness study. *Nursing Research*, 68(6), 453–463.
https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.00000000000383

- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Internal and external validity: can you apply research study results to your patients? *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia : Publicacao Oficial da Sociedade Brasileira de Pneumologia e Tisilogia*, 44(3), 183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562018000000164</u>
- Parker, S. (1998). Enhancing role-breadth self-efficacy: The roles of job enrichment and other organizational interventions. Journal of Applied Psychology, 83, 835- 852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.6.83</u>
- Porcel-Gálvez, A. M., Barrientos-Trigo, S., Bermúdez-García, S., Fernández-García, E., Bueno-Ferrán, M., & Badanta, B. (2020). The nursing stress scale-spanish version: An update to its psychometric properties and validation of a short-form version in acute care hospital settings. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(22). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17228456</u>
- Read, E., & Laschinger, H. K. (2015). Correlates of new graduate nurses' experiences of workplace mistreatment. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 45(10 Suppl), S28–S35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000250</u>
- Rosnawati Muhamad, R., Mohd, F., Nur, A., Mat, S., Hanizah Mohd, Y., & Abdul Aziz, H. (2021). Why so stressed? A comparative study on stressors and stress between

hospital and non-hospital nurses. BMC Nursing, 20(1), 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00511-0

- Roush, R., Opsahi. A., Ferren, M. (2021), Developing an internship program to support nursing student transition to clinical setting, *Journal of Professional Nursing*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2021.04.001.</u>
- Rushton, C. H., Batcheller, J., Schroeder, K., Donohue, P. (2015). Burnout and resilience among nurses practicing in high-intensity settings. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 24, 412-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2015291</u>
- Schaufeli, W. B. (2017). Applying the job demands-resources model: A 'how-to' guide to measuring and tackling work engagement and burnout. *Organizational Dynamics*, 46(2), 120–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2017.04.008</u>
- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1985). Optimism, coping, and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4, 219-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.4.3.219</u>
- Seek Lee, C., & Jang, H. Y. (2018). A double mediation of hope and job satisfaction between job stress and turnover intention. *Indian Journal of Public Health*, 9(9),
- Shahpouri, S., Namdari, K., & Abedi, A. (2016). Mediating role of work engagement in the relationship between job resources and personal resources with turnover intention among female nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 30, 216-221.
- Spence Laschinger, H. K., Wong, C. A., & Grau, A. L. (2012). The influence of authentic leadership on newly graduated nurses' experiences of workplace bullying, burnout

and retention outcomes: a cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, *49*(10), 1266–1276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.05.012</u>

- Snyder, C. R., Sympson, S., Ybasco, F., Borders, T., Babyak, M., Higgins, R. (1996).
 Development and validation of the state hope scale. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 321-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.70.2.321</u>
- Stajkovic, A. D., & Luthans, F. (1998). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 240–

261. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.240

- Tabachnick, B., G., Fidell, L. S., & Ullman, J. B. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. 5, 481-498. Pearson.
- Wagnild, G. M., & Young, H. M. (1993). Development and psychometric evaluation of the resiliency scale. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 1(2), 165–178.

Wakefield, E. (2018) "Is your graduate nurse suffering from transition shock?," *Journal of Perioperative Nursing*: Vol. 31 (1). <u>https://doi.org/10.26550/2209-1092.1024</u>Wang, L., Tao, H., Bowers, B. J., Brown, R., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Influence of social support and self-efficacy on resilience of early career registered nurses. *Western journal of nursing research*, *40*(5), 648–664. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0193945916685712

Wang, X., Liu, L., Zou, F., Hao, J., & Wu, H. (2017). Associations of occupational stressors, perceived organizational support, and psychological capital with work engagement among Chinese female nurses. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5284628</u> Xanthopoulou, D., Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2007). The role of personal resources in the job demands-resources model. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 14(2), 121–141. https://doi.org/10.1037/1072-5245.14.2.121

Yao, Y., Zhao, S., Gao, X., An, Z., Wang, S., Li, H., Li, Y., Gao, L., Lu, L., & Dong, Z. (2018). General self-efficacy modifies the effect of stress on burnout in nurses with different personality types. *BMC health services research*, *18*(1), 667. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3478-y

- Yang, E.-O., & Gu, M.-O. (, 2019). Analysis of factors influencing the burnout of nursing hospital nurses based on job demand-resource model. *Journal of the Korean Industrial-Academic Technology Society*, 20 (4), 137–148. https://doi.org/10.5762/KAIS.2019.20.4.137
- Yim, H.-Y., Seo, H.-J., Cho, Y., & Kim, J. (2017). Mediating role of psychological capital in relationship between occupational stress and turnover intention among nurses at Veterans administration hospitals in Korea. *Asian Nursing Research*, 11(1), 6–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2017.01.002</u>
- Yu, M. & Lee, H. (2018). Impact of resilience and job involvement on turnover intention of new graduate nurses using structural equation modeling. *Jpn J Nurs Sci*, 15: 351-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12210</u>
- Zaki, R. (2016). Job stress and self-efficacy among psychiatric nursing working in mental health hospitals at Cairo, Egypt. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(20), 103-113.

Zhang, Y., Steege, L. M., Pavek, K. U., Brown, R. L., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Identifying patterns of occupational stress trajectories among newly graduated nurses: A longitudinal study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 99, 103332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.03.022</u>

Zhao, F., Lei, L., He, W., Gu, H., & Li, W. (2015). The study of perceived stress, coping strategy and self-efficacy of Chinese undergraduate nursing students in clinical practice. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 21(4), 401-409. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12273

- Zhou, H., Peng, J., Wang, D., Kou, L., Chen, F., Ye, M., Deng, Y., Yan, J., & Liao, S. (2017). Mediating effect of coping styles on the association between psychological capital and psychological distress among Chinese nurses: a cross-sectional study. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 24(2-3), 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12350
- Zhou, J., Yang, Y., Qiu, X., Yang, X., Pan, H., Ban, B., Qiao, Z., Wang, L., & Wang, W. (2018). Serial multiple mediation of organizational commitment and job burnout in the relationship between psychological capital and anxiety in Chinese female nurses: A cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 83, 75–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.03.016</u>
- Zhou, L., Kachie Tetgoum, A. D., Quansah, P. E., & Owusu, M. J. (2022). Assessing the effect of nursing stress factors on turnover intention among newly recruited nurses in hospitals in China. *Nursing Open*, 9(6), 2697–2709. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.969

Zhu, Y., Liu, Y., Guo, L., Jones, M. C., Guo, Y., Yv, S., Guo, Y., Namassevayam, G., & Wei, M. (2020). Testing two student nurse stress instruments in Chinese nursing students: A comparative study using exploratory factor analysis. *BioMed research international*, 2020, 6987198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/6987198</u> Appendix A: Permission to Use the NSS

Insert appendix content here. Appendix A: Permission to Use the NSS SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Aug 07, 2021

This Agreement between Mrs. Rita Jarvis-Isaac ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center. License Number 5123081105684 License date Aug 06, 2021 Licensed Content Publisher Springer Nature Licensed Content Publication Journal of Behavioral Assessment Licensed Content Title The Nursing Stress Scale: Development of an instrument Licensed Content Author Pamela Gray-Toft et al Licensed Content Date Jan 1, 1981 Type of Use Thesis/Dissertation Requestor type academic/university or research institute Format print and electronic Portion Text extract Number of text extracts 1 Will you be translating? no Circulation/distribution 200 - 499 Author of this Springer Nature content

no Title Mrs. Rita Jarvis-Isaac Institution name Walden University Expected presentation date Jan 2022 Order reference number 01 Portions The nurse stress Questionaire scale Requestor Location Mrs. Rita Jarvis-Isaac 13 CELESTIAL PARK Vessigny

La Brea, 00000 Trinidad and Tobago Attn: Mrs. Rita Jarvis-Isaac Total 0.00 USD Terms and Conditions **Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH Terms and Conditions**

This agreement sets out the terms and conditions of the licence (the **Licence**) between you and **Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH** (the **Licensor**). By clicking 'accept' and completing the transaction for the material (**Licensed Material**), you also confirm your acceptance of these terms and conditions.

1. Grant of License

- 1. The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, world-wide licence to reproduce the Licensed Material for the purpose specified in your order only. Licences are granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to the conditions below.
- 2. The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).

- If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.
 2. Scope of Licence
- 1. You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Ts&Cs and any applicable laws.
- 2. A separate licence may be required for any additional use of the Licensed Material, e.g. where a licence has been purchased for print only use, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a licence is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence. Any content owned by third parties are expressly excluded from the licence.
- 3. Similarly, rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply

to <u>Journalpermissions@springernature.com/bookpermissions@springernat</u> <u>ure.com</u> for these rights.

- 4. Where permission has been granted **free of charge** for material in print, permission may also be granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.
 - 5. An alternative scope of licence may apply to signatories of the <u>STM</u> <u>Permissions Guidelines</u>, as amended from time to time.

Duration of Licence

1. A licence for is valid from the date of purchase ('Licence Date') at the end of the relevant period in the below table:

Scope of Licence	Duration of Licence
Post on a website	12 months
Presentations	12 months
Books and journals	Lifetime of the edition in the language purchased

□ Acknowledgement

 The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licenced Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

□ Restrictions on use

- Use of the Licensed Material may be permitted for incidental promotional use and minor editing privileges e.g. minor adaptations of single figures, changes of format, colour and/or style where the adaptation is credited as set out in Appendix 1 below. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author are strictly prohibited.
 - 2. You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.
 - 3. Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP) before publication by Springer Nature, but any Licensed Material must be removed from OAP sites prior to final publication.

□ Ownership of Rights

1. Licensed Material remains the property of either Licensor or the relevant third party and any rights not explicitly granted herein are expressly reserved.

□ Warranty

IN NO EVENT SHALL LICENSOR BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

□ Limitations

- 1. <u>BOOKS ONLY:</u>Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity, NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/).
- 2. For content reuse requests that qualify for permission under the <u>STM Permissions</u> <u>Guidelines</u>, which may be updated from time to time, the STM Permissions Guidelines supersede the terms and conditions contained in this licence.

□ Termination and Cancellation

- 1. Licences will expire after the period shown in Clause 3 (above).
- 2. Licensee reserves the right to terminate the Licence in the event that payment is not received in full or if there has been a breach of this agreement by you.

Appendix 1 — Acknowledgements:

For Journal Content:

Reprinted by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Journal Publisher** (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [**JOURNAL NAME**] [**REFERENCE CITATION** (Article name, Author(s) Name), [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication)

For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Journal Publisher** (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [**JOURNAL NAME**] [**REFERENCE CITATION** (Article name, Author(s) Name), [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].)

For Adaptations/Translations:

Adapted/Translated by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Journal Publisher** (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [**JOURNAL NAME**] [**REFERENCE CITATION** (Article name, Author(s) Name), [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication)

Note: For any republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line style applies:

Reprinted/adapted/translated by permission from [**the Licensor**]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: : [**Journal Publisher** (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [**JOURNAL**

NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name),

[COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from The [**the Licensor**]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [**Journal Publisher** (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [**JOURNAL NAME**] [**REFERENCE CITATION** (Article name, Author(s) Name), [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM])

For Book content:

Reprinted/adapted by permission from [**the Licensor**]: [**Book Publisher** (e.g. Palgrave Macmillan, Springer etc) [**Book Title**] by [**Book author**(s)] [**COPYRIGHT**] (year of publication)

Other Conditions:

Version 1.3

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Appendix B: Psychological Capital Questionnaire Research Permission Rita Jarvis-Isaac

2

Psychological Capital Questionnaire Research Permission

Fred Luthans, Bruce J. Avolio, & James B. Avey

Introduction: The Psychological Capital Questionnaire (PCQ) has undergone preliminary validation efforts to demonstrate that it is both reliable and construct valid. Permission to use the PCQ free of charge and for a limited

period is provided for research purposes only. This document contains:

Conditions of Use for the Psychological Capital Questionnaire - Use of the

Psychological Capital

Questionnaire is subject to the conditions outlined in this section.

Conditions of Use for Administering the PCQ Online - Administration of the

Psychological Capital

Questionnaire online using a site other than Mind Garden is subject to the conditions outlined in this section.

Abstract of Research Project - A brief description of your research project.

Psychological Capital Questionnaire - The form itself (self and other) and instructions for calculating scale

scores.

Translation of the PCQ - You have requested one of our available translations. Mind

Garden distributed

- translations are of varying quality. Many are translated by researchers. Some translations are translated and then
- back-translated to check the quality, while others have not been back-translated. We typically do not know the
- dialect of the translation. We also do not have validation data on the translation. Some translations do not include
- all of the items that are on the English form; sometimes a scale or scales are missing on the translation. You will
- receive what we have with no warranty or assurance of quality or dialect. Basically, we try to provide you with

what is available to facilitate your work.

- *Permission to Reproduce Sample Items* You cannot include an entire instrument in your thesis or
- dissertation, however you can use up to three sample items. Academic committees

understand the requirements

- of copyright and are satisfied with sample items for appendices and tables. For customers needing permission to
- reproduce three sample items in a proposal, thesis, or dissertation this section includes the permission form and

reference information needed to satisfy the requirements of an academic committee.

All Other Special Reproduction: For any other special purposes requiring permissions

for reproduction of this instrument, please review the information at

http://www.mindgarden.com/copyright.htm or contact us at

info@mindgarden.com.

Appendix C: Pre-screening Questionnaire

Please answer the following questions by checking the appropriate answers

1. Are you a registered nurse? Yes No

2. Were you a Licensed Practical Nurse prior to you becoming a Registered nurse?

Yes No

3. Do you work in a hospital setting? Yes No.

4. Is your length of clinical practice as a Registered nurse equal to 1-year or less?

Yes No

Appendix D: Demographic Survey

Can you circle the appropriate answers?

1. What age range, do you fit in?

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54, 55 and above

2. What is your gender?

Male Female Other

3. Can you indicate your marital status?

Single Married Separated/ Divorced

4. Please indicate your Work area:

Medical/ Surgical

Pediatrics

Outpatient Clinic

Labor & Delivery

ICU

Operating Room

Emergency Department

Psychiatry

Other_____

5. Can you indicate your period of clinical experience in nursing (months)?

6. Please indicate your degree

Associates degree Bachelor's degree Diploma

7. Can you indicate your Hospital ownership type;

Government Private

8. Which shift do you work?

Day

Night

Both